

# EVALUATING RNAI AS A CONTROL STRATEGY AGAINST *FUSARIUM* AND ITS MYCOTOXINS IN MAIZE

Anne Van Humbeeck Stamnummer: 01401308

Promotoren: Prof. Dr. ir. Guy Smagghe , Prof. Dr. ir. Kris Audenaert

Tutoren: Dr. Nji Tizi Clauvis Taning, Dr. Minh Trang Tran

Masterproef voorgelegd voor het behalen van de graad in Master of Science in de industriële wetenschappen: biochemie

Academiejaar: 2020 - 2021





# EVALUATING RNAI AS A CONTROL STRATEGY AGAINST *FUSARIUM* AND ITS MYCOTOXINS IN MAIZE

Anne Van Humbeeck Stamnummer: 01401308

Promotoren: Prof. Dr. ir. Guy Smagghe , Prof. Dr. ir. Kris Audenaert

Tutoren: Dr. Nji Tizi Clauvis Taning, Dr. Minh Trang Tran

Masterproef voorgelegd voor het behalen van de graad in Master of Science in de industriële wetenschappen: biochemie

Academiejaar: 2020 - 2021



# Copyright protection and confidentiality

De auteur en de promotor geven de toelating deze scriptie voor consultatie beschikbaar te stellen en delen van de scriptie te kopiëren voor persoonlijk gebruik. Elk ander gebruik valt onder de beperkingen van het auteursrecht, in het bijzonder met betrekking tot de verplichting de bron uitdrukkelijk te vermelden bij het aanhalen van resultaten uit deze scriptie.

The author and the promoter give the permission to use this thesis for consultation and to copy parts of it for personal use. Every other use is subject to the copyright laws, more specifically the source must be extensively specified when using the results from this thesis.

## Preface

The implementation of a thesis idea always comes with many challenges and would not be possible without the help and guidance of the many people involved. In the first place, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. ir. Guy Smagghe and Prof. Dr. ir. Kris Audenaert for the opportunity to conduct the practical thesis work in their research labs. I have been very lucky to have had access to such well-equipped and inspiring work environments. Besides, I am also very grateful for their advice and comments on my thesis manuscript and progress throughout the study. Of course, a big thank you also goes out to my supervisors Dr. Nji Tizi Clauvis Taning and Dr. Minh Trang Tran who have helped me to become familiar with a wide variety of theory and lab techniques. Whenever I had questions or needed some help with the lab problems I faced, they were always available for advice.

In addition, I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Sarah De Saeger and the lab members of the Centre of Excellence in Mycotoxicology and Public Health for allowing me to analyze my samples for mycotoxin contamination with their LC-MS/MS device and expertise. Overall, I received a lot of spontaneous help in the lab of the Department of Plants and Crops, especially from Larissa De Troyer, Waldo Deroo and Mitchel De Cock with whom I worked together to tackle the problems we faced with contamination of the used fungi. Also, Noémie De Zutter, Boris Bekaert and Maarten Ameye were very kind to provide me with guidance and help regarding the use of the phenotyping robot and other technical practicalities. In general, working in this lab has been wonderful thanks to the kindness and welcoming atmosphere of everyone present. It didn't take long for me to feel like I was a member of the group and I appreciate this greatly.

At last, I would also like to acknowledge my family and loved ones for their unconditional support. Without them, studying for my second master degree at UGent would not have been a possibility in the first place, or would have been much less of a pleasant experience. Studying during the Covid pandemic can be very challenging and mentally draining at times. Therefore, I am immensely lucky to have such warm and loving people around to encourage me when times get difficult and stressful. Thank you.

## Abstract in Dutch

Wereldwijd zorgen *Fusarium* schimmels voor grote problemen in de landbouwindustrie. Niet enkel zijn ze gerelateerd aan allerhande gewasziekten en verliezen, maar ook vormen de mycotoxines die door deze organismes worden uitgescheiden een gevaar voor mens en dier. De vraag naar milieuvriendelijke alternatieven voor hedendaagse fungiciden wordt alsmaar groter vanwege strengere overheidsmaatregelen en allerhande vormen van resistentie ontwikkeling. Spray-induced gene silencing (SIGS) is een relatief nieuwe vorm van gewasbescherming waarbij dubbelstrengig RNA (dsRNA) via een spray methode op de plant wordt aangebracht. Hierna worden de RNA moleculen opgenomen door plant en pathogeen en verwerkt via de aanwezige RNA interference (RNAi) pathway om zo gene silencing van het gewenste target gen te bekomen.

In deze studie werd SIGS toegepast op de pathogeen *F. verticillioides,* een schimmel wiens fumonisin productie voor bezorgdheid zorgt vanwege de mogelijks carcinogene aard. Het chitine synthase 3 gen (*Chs3b*) van de schimmel werd gekozen als target en doorheen de studie bestudeerd met behulp van SIGS. Het effect van dit dsRNA op de groei en infectie van *F. verticillioides* werd getest op drie niveaus: microscopische schaal, *in-vitro* 6-well schaal en detached-leaf assay op mais bladeren. *F. graminearum* (GFP getagged) fungeerde als controle organisme in de studie.

Repliceerbare protocollen werden opgebouwd om het effect van *Chs3b* dsRNA op *F. verticillioides* te testen. Subtiele verschillen tussen *Chs3b* dsRNA behandeling en controle werden opgemerkt tijdens de 6-well experimenten en mycotoxine analyse. Echter, over het algemeen leek de behandeling weinig tot geen effect te hebben. Mogelijkse verklaringen zijn het kiezen van een inefficiënt target gen of een ongeschikte applicatiemethode.

**Kernwoorden:** gene silencing, dubbelstrengig RNA, *Fusarium verticillioides, Fusarium graminearum,* detached leaf-assay, mycotoxines

# Abstract in English

*Fusarium* fungi are a source of worldwide problems in the agricultural industry. Not only are they associated with different kinds of crop diseases and losses, but also the mycotoxins emitted by these organisms pose a threat to animals and humans. The demand for more environmentally friendly fungicide products is only increasing due to stricter government measurements and the rise of fungal resistance. Spray-induced gene silencing (SIGS) is a relatively new kind of crop protection in which double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) is applied by a spraying method onto the plant leaves. Afterwards, the RNA molecules are taken up by the plant and pathogen and processed by the present RNA interference (RNAi) pathway in order to become silencing of the desired target gene.

In this study, the SIGS method was applied on the pathogen *F. verticillioides*, a fungus which fumonisin production causes concern because of its potential carcinogenic nature. The chitin synthase 3 gene (*Chs3*) of the fungus was chosen as target and investigated throughout the study by means of SIGS. The effect of this dsRNA on the growth and infection of *F. verticillioides* was tested on three levels: microscopic scale, *in-vitro* 6-well scale and maize detached leaf assay. *F. graminearum* (GFP tagged) was used as a control organism throughout the study.

Replicable protocols were built de-novo to investigate the effect of *Chs3b* dsRNA on *F. verticillioides.* Subtle differences between the *Chs3b* dsRNA treatment and control were witnessed during the 6-well experiments and mycotoxin analysis. Nevertheless, the treatment had in general little to no effect. Possible explanations can be found in the inefficient selection of target gene or unsuitable application method.

**Keywords:** gene silencing, double-stranded RNA, *Fusarium verticillioides, Fusarium graminearum,* detached-leaf assay, mycotoxins

# Table of Contents

Copyright protection and confidentiality	I
Preface	II
Abstract in Dutch	
Abstract in English	IV
Table of Contents	1
List of Abbreviations	3
List of Figures	4
1. Introduction	6
2. Literature study	8
2.1 Fusarium spp	8
2.1.1 Fusarium graminearum	9
2.1.2 Fusarium verticillioides	10
2.2 Fumonisins	11
2.2.1 Fumonisin genes	11
2.2.2 Fumonisin biosynthesis	12
2.3 RNA interference	14
2.3.1 SiRNA pathway in fungi	14
2.3.2 Interaction between fungal pathogens and host plant siRNA pathways	16
2.4 RNAi-based control of fungal pathogens	18
2.4.1 Host-induced gene silencing	18
2.4.2 Spray-induced gene silencing	19
2.4.3 Practical challenges	21
2.5 Genes of interest	24
2.5.1 Chs3b	24
2.5.2 eGFP	24
3. Methodology	25
3.1 Species and Sampling	25
3.2 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis	25
3.3 Construction of Templates and dsRNA synthesis	25
3.3.1 Chs3b and eGFP	25
3.3.2 DsRNA synthesis	25
3.4 Microscopic assay	26
3.5 <i>In-vitro</i> dsRNA assay	26
3.5.1 Experimental set-up	26

3.5.2 Mycotoxin analysis by LC-MS/MS27
3.6 Infection of seedlings28
3.7 Detached leaf assay28
3.7.1 Infection trial28
3.7.2 <i>Chs3b</i> and <i>eGFP</i> 28
4. Results
4.1 Microscopic Assay
4.2 In-vitro assay
4.2.1 Six-well plate assay
4.2.2 Effect of dsRNA on fumonisin production40
4.3 Infection of seedlings41
4.4 Detached leaf assay – infection trial43
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA45
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA45   5. Discussion
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA
4.5 Detached leaf assay – chs3b and eGFP dsRNA.455. Discussion535.1 Result analysis535.2 Target gene selection545.3 DsRNA delivery method555.4 Host plant interaction565.5 Future prospects576. Conclusion587. References59Supplement I70Supplement II72

# List of Abbreviations

AGO	Argonaute protein
bp	Base pairs
cDNA	Complementary DNA
cGFP	Corrected green fluorescent protein
CHS	Chalcone synthase
<i>Chs</i>	Chitin synthase
CRISPR/Cas	Clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats/Cas9
dai	Days after infection
DCL	Dicer-like protein
DON	Deoxynivalenol
dsRNA	Double-stranded RNA
FB	Fumonisin B series
FER	<i>Fusarium</i> ear rot
FHB	<i>Fusarium</i> head blight
Fump	<i>Fum</i> protein
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
eGFP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
GMO	Genetically modified organism
GUS	B-glucuronidase
HIGS	Host-induced gene silencing
HPLC	High-performance liquid chromatography
LC-MS/MS	Liquid chromatography with tandem mass spectrometry
miRNA	MicroRNA
nt	nucleotides
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PDA	Potato dextrose agar
piRNA	Piwi-interacting RNA
RdRP	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
RNAi	RNA interference
SIGS	Spray-induced gene silencing
siRNA	Short interfering RNA

# List of Figures

Figure 1: Macroconidia from <i>F. graminearum</i> and <i>Fusarium</i> head blight in the field9
Figure 2: Macro – and microconidia from <i>F. verticillioides</i> and maize pink ear rot10
Figure 3: Chemical structure of fumonisins from the B-series12
Figure 4: <i>F. verticillioides</i> FUM gene cluster coding for fumonisin mycotoxins
Figure 5: Biosynthesis of fumonisin B1 in <i>F. verticillioides</i> 13
Figure 6: SiRNA pathway in fungi16
Figure 7: DsRNA pathway in plants17
Figure 8: Interaction between host plant and pathogenic fungi at siRNA level
Figure 9: Simplified mode of action of HIGS and SIGS20
Figure 10: Germinated <i>F. verticillioides</i> spore length according to treatment
Figure 11: Germinated <i>F. graminearum</i> spore length according to treatment
Figure 12: Germinated <i>F. graminearum</i> spore side branch length
Figure 13: Microscopic pictures of GFP signal transmitted by <i>F. graminearum</i>
Figure 14: Growth area of <i>F. verticillioides</i> on 6-well plate according to treatment
Figure 15: Growth area and cGFP signal of <i>F. graminearum</i> on 6-well plate according to treatment
Figure 16: Growth area of <i>F. verticillioides</i> on 6-well plate according to treatment (2)36
Figure 17: Growth area of <i>F. graminearum</i> on 6-well plate according to treatment (2)
Figure 18: cGFP signal of <i>F. graminearum</i> on 6-well plate according to treatment (2)
Figure 19: Fumonisin FB1, FB2 and FB3 concentration in daily control and daily <i>Chs3b</i> dsRNA treated samples of <i>F. verticillioides</i> grown on PDA medium40
Figure 20: Fumonisin FB1, FB2 and FB3 concentration in daily control and daily <i>Chs3b</i> dsRNA treated samples of <i>F. verticillioides</i> grown on 10 X diluted PDA medium
Figure 21: 16 days old maize plants grown from seedlings infected by <i>F. verticillioides, F. graminearum</i> or water control
Figure 22: Leaf length, root length, dry leaves biomass and dry root biomass of infected plants according to treatment
Figure 23: Graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, chlorophyll index and necrosis area of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of <i>F. graminearum</i> and <i>F. verticillioides</i> (1)44
Figure 24: Graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, necrosis area and chlorophyl index of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of <i>F. verticillioides</i> (2)46

Figure 25: Graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, necrosis area and chlorophyl index of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of *F. graminearum* (2)......48

Figure 26: Graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, necrosis area and chlorophyl index of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of *F. verticillioides* (3)......50

Figure 27: Graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, necrosis area and chlorophyl index of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of *F. graminearum* (3)......52

## 1. Introduction

Fungal species belonging to the *Fusarium* family are known worldwide for causing severe crop diseases and related problems. The most notorious ones are *Fusarium* head blight (FHB) in wheat and *Fusarium* ear rot (FER) in maize. Besides causing spoilage in the crops, the fungi are also capable of producing mycotoxins, which are secondary metabolites. These molecules can cause threats to animal and human health and can accumulate during plant growth. Thus, it is no wonder that in the last decades many efforts were directed towards the creation of successful fungicides to combat these problems. However, the overreliance on fungicides is harmful for the environment or prone to the development of fungal resistance. Recent governmental restrictions considering the use of these dangerous components have caused a high need for the development of alternative biofungicides that are save for humans and environment.

In the last years, numerous studies have turned towards the use of the RNA interference (RNAi) pathways present in most types of organisms to silence genes that are vital to dangerous pests or pathogens. At first, the focus lied upon the creation of transgenic plants that can create small interference RNAs able to silence target genes of pests, a technique that was called 'host-induced gene silencing'. Given that a lot of (European) countries are non-inviting when it comes to the implementation of GMOs on the fields, the focus shifted towards another technique: spray-induced gene silencing (SIGS). In this case, the small interfering RNA (siRNA) or double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) is applied straight onto the plant by means of a spray application. After uptake of the RNA molecules by the plant or pathogens, they are processed by the RNAi machinery and used to silence the target gene for which they were designed. Thus, hereby creating a highly species-specific pesticide or fungicide with less direct harmful effects on the environment.

In this study, *F. verticillioides* was chosen as target organism. This fungal species is best known for causing pink ear rot in maize in (semi-) tropical and temperate regions. Not only is this pathogen responsible for great agricultural losses, but it also produces fumonisins. These mycotoxins cause a lot of concern worldwide since they have been associated with human oesophagael cancer in Italy, Southern Africa, Southeastern U.S.A. and China. During this investigation, the use of SIGS as a way to target *F. verticillioides* and reduce growth and infection of the fungus was investigated. To do this, dsRNA targeting the chitin synthase 3b gene (*Chs3b*) of *F. verticillioides* was designed. This same gene was found to be of vital importance to the fungus *F. graminearum*, which is why this organism was chosen as control throughout the study. The used *F. graminearum* strain (PH-1) was also GFP-tagged and thus dsRNA was also designed to target the *eGFP* gene present, as another form of method control.

In order to investigate the effect of the dsRNA on multiple levels, three protocols were established. The dsRNA treatment was first applied on a microscopic scale in order to look for effects early on in spore germination. Afterwards, *in-vitro* 6-well plates were used to allow for a longer observation of the fungal growth under control and dsRNA treated conditions. At the end of this protocol, samples were also collected and analyzed for mycotoxin contamination. At last, a detached-leaf assay method was used in order to investigate the necessity for the interaction between host-plant and *F. verticillioides* to facilitate successful gene silencing.

This thesis comprises of five chapters of which the first one is the Literature study. Here, a wide overview about relevant literature concerning the topics of the study is provided. This part is by itself divided into four main sections. First of all, *Fusarium* fungal pathogens and the problems they cause in crop production are described, in particular the main organism of this study, *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum*. The second section goes more into dept about fumonisins, the main mycotoxins produced by *F. verticillioides*, and their gene cluster and biosynthesis. Afterwards, the study focuses on the RNAi machinery in plants and fungi. At last, the final section deals with RNAi-based control of fungal pathogens and gives a detailed overview about the advances in this field so far and the challenges that are still being present.

The second main chapter is the methodology. Here, a detailed description is given concerning all the protocols that were used during the investigation of this study. In the third chapter, the results of the practical work that was conducted in light of this thesis (and was described in the methodology) are introduced and visualized with figures and statistical analyses. In chapter four, these results are critically discussed and compared to the expectations that were set at the beginning of the investigation. Also, possible explanations are given for unexpected results and prospects for future work on the subject are proposed. At last, chapter five is an overview of the work that has been conducted and summarizes in short the main findings and message to take home from the overall study.

## 2. Literature study

#### 2.1 Fusarium spp.

*Fusarium* species are distributed worldwide and are amongst the most prominent plant pathogens (Babadoost, 2018). Depending on the species, *Fusarium* can infect most plant parts at different phenological growth stages such as roots, stems, fruits, and seeds (Askun, 2018). The host range within the genus is very broad and comprises both monocots and eudicots. In the last years, the *Fusarium* taxonomy has been revisited due to the highly complex nature of the species in this genus. It is now generally accepted that this genus is divided into species complexes such as the *Fusarium fujikuroi* species complex (containing *F. verticillioides*), the *Fusarium sambucinum* species complex (containing *F. graminearum, F. pseudograminearum* and *F. langsethiae*), the *Fusarium oxysporum* species complex (containing *F. oxysporum*) and many others (O'Donnell *et al*, 2013; Summerell, 2019).

Although many *Fusarium* spp. have been studied as pathogens, research on this genus is primarily fueled by the production of toxic secondary metabolites (e.g., fumonisins, deoxynivalenol and zearalenone) by several *Fusarium* species. Under stress or during plant invasion, pathogenic fungi often produce these secondary metabolites that act as a defense mechanism or help to facilitate the infection process. The so-called mycotoxins can accumulate during plant growth and can persist during storage (Wakuliński, 1989; Askun, 2018; Babadoost, 2018; Jimenez-Garcia *et al*, 2018). Mycotoxins also pose a threat to the health of animals and humans ranging from acute toxicity causing for example vomiting to chronic diseases such as cancer (Nelson *et al*, 1993; Krcmery *et al*, 1997; Weidenbörner, 2017). Often, mycotoxins are produced by the *Fusarium*, *Aspergillus* and *Penicillium* fungal genera (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). There is a wide variety of known *Fusarium* toxins and they range from fumonisins to trichothecenes, zearalenones, beauvericin and more (Desjardins & Proctor, 2007). The different types of mycotoxins usually have their own gene cluster like the *TRI* clusters (trichothecenes), the *ZEN* cluster (zearalenone) and the *FUM* cluster (fumonisins) (Perincherry *et al*, 2019).

The two most important diseases linked to *Fusarium* species are *Fusarium* head blight (FHB) in wheat and *Fusarium* ear rot (FER) in maize. Species that are known to cause FHB include, but are not limited to, *F. graminearum, F. culmorum* and *F. avenaceum* belonging to the *F. sambucinum* and *F. tricinctum* species complex (Muthomi *et al*, 2008; Machado *et al*, 2018). In maize, on the other hand, ear rot is the most common disease. There are two kinds of FER present in maize. Red ear rot is mostly caused by infections of *F. graminearum, F. avenaceum* and *F. culmorum*. The other variant, pink ear rot, is associated with *F. verticillioides, F. proliferatum, F. subglutinans* and *F. tujikuroi* (Logrieco *et al*, 2002). Many mycotoxins comprising fumonisins, trichothecenes, zearalenones, moniliformin, beauvericin and fusaproliferin can be found on maize crops because of these kinds of infections (Jimenez-Garcia *et al*, 2018). The high incidence of *Fusarium* species and associated mycotoxins in maize products destined for human consumption in African regions is one of the major threats to human health on the African continent (Fandohan *et al*, 2005; Muthomi *et al*, 2008; Ekwomadu *et al*, 2018). Worldwide losses in maize yield due to *Fusarium* species are

numerous and are situated in both pre-harvest due to infected plants in the field as well as during post-harvest chain (Bottalico *et al*, 1989; Burgess & Bryden, 2012).

In Europa, red ear rot is most often caused by *F. graminearum* and the reddish mould is regularly found in northern European areas (Bottalico & Perrone, 2002). Pink ear rot in maize, on the other hand, is mostly due to infections of *F. verticillioides* (Munkvold *et al*, 1997). It is more common in central to southern European regions. Both types of plant diseases are found worldwide, however recently shifts in the population have been observed in which *F. verticillioides* migrates northwards (Munkvold *et al*, 2018).

## 2.1.1 Fusarium graminearum

*Fusarium graminearum* (also known by its older teleomorphic name *Gibberella zea*) is one of the main participants in several crop diseases of which FHB is among the most common and severe. This disease causes crop damage and losses in China, the United States, South America and many other regions due to the fungus' wide distribution. It mainly targets cereal crops and grows especially well in warmer regions, although *F. graminearum* can withstand a wide range of temperatures up to 30°C (Osborne & Stein, 2007; Xu & Nicholson, 2009). Symptoms of FHB include necrosis and spikelets in cereal heads, kernel damage and *Fusarium* toxins accumulation (Góral *et al*, 2019). Often, pink fungal sporodochia can also be seen on the infected heads (Fig. 1B) (Osborne & Stein, 2007). *F. graminearum* produces several harmful mycotoxins including zearalenone (ZEN) and trichothecenes such as deoxynivalenol (DON). DON is the mycotoxin that is worldwide the most common in cereal grains (Lee & Ryu, 2017; Chen *et al*, 2019). In mammals, it causes a wide range of symptoms going from growth and reproductive effects to immune dysregulation, mainly due to its binding to the ribosome and following protein inhibition (Pestka, 2010).

*F. graminearum* can infect crops via dispersed asexual conidia or sexual ascospores (Gilbert & Fernando, 2004). The *F. graminearum* conidia are macroconidia with an elongated, slender shape consisting of three to five cells divided by septa (Fig. 1A) (Harris, 2005). During germination, hyphae are formed on the exterior surfaces of glumes and florets after which access to penetration susceptible tissues is gained through the stomata (Seong *et al*, 2008).



Figure 1: A) macroconidia from Fusarium graminearum and B) Fusarium head blight in the field (Kikot et al, 2011; Smith, 2013).

#### 2.1.2 Fusarium verticillioides

Maize is grown in a wide geographical range from North America to Europe, Russia and Oceania. It is a crop of very high importance with applications in food, animal feed and industrial purposes (Muimba-Kankolongo, 2018). *F. verticillioides* is the major *Fusarium* species causing pink ear rot in maize in (semi)-tropical and temperate regions including Europe (Logrieco *et al*, 2002), the USA (McMullen *et al*, 2012) and several parts of Africa (Fandohan *et al*, 2005; Muimba-Kankolongo, 2018; Ekwomadu *et al*, 2018). *F. verticillioides* infections can be asymptomatic but may also be very severe and result in wilting and rotting (Oren *et al*, 2003).

During warmer and drier years, there is a higher occurrence of *F. verticillioides* in maize crops (Reid *et al*, 1999). The fungus produces both micro – and macroconidia, although this last one to a much smaller extent. Macroconidia are curved, contain two to four septa and measure approximately 20 by 5  $\mu$ m. Microconidia are fusiform to clavate and measure approximately 9 by 2  $\mu$ m (Fig. 2A) (Young *et al*, 1978). Most frequently, the conidia first infect the silks after which the invasion spreads to the kernels (Munkvold *et al*, 1997; Oren *et al*, 2003). Often, damage caused by insects forms easy access for the fungus to infiltrate the plant tissues. Infection of the maize is characterized by white-colored molds scattered on the ear (Fig. 2B) (Reid *et al*, 1999). In infected soil, the mesocotyl tissue and lateral roots are the first to be infected, followed by rotting in the mesocotyl and main roots 25 to 30 days after (Oren *et al*, 2003). In case of infected seeds by mycelia or conidia, the fungus spreads from the roots to the stalk and kernels onwards (Murillo-Williams & Munkvold, 2008). Thus, systemic infection of the maize plant starting from the seed and stalk is possible, but more common and important is the invasion via the silk (Munkvold *et al*, 1997). The main mycotoxins produced by *F. verticillioides* are fumonisins (Logrieco *et al*, 2002).



Figure 2: macro (A) – and microconidia (B) from Fusarium verticillioides and C) maize pink ear rot (Pavlovic et al, 2016; Crop Protection Network, 2020)

#### 2.2 Fumonisins

The target organism in this study is *F. verticillioides*. Its main mycotoxins are fumonisins which cause a lot of concern worldwide as will be discussed in this section. The first discovery of fumonisins dates back to 1988 when a long investigation revealed their possible role in reportedly high numbers of esophageal cancer in the Southern Africa Transkei region (Bezuidenhout et al, 1988; Gelderblom et al, 1988; Nelson et al, 1993). The first isolation of this kind of polyketide mycotoxins came from F. verticillioides (Nelson et al. 1992). Together with F. proliferatum, F. verticillioides is still considered as the main producer of fumonisins (Askun, 2018). Many crops have already shown fumonisin contamination in association with Fusarium, such as wheat, rice, beans and maize (Chehri et al, 2010; Hsuan et al, 2011; Gomes et al, 2015). They aid in the infection process by the disruption of the plant plasma membrane, accumulation of toxic sphingolipid intermediates and the resulting inhibition of the ceramide synthase and following disruption of cell signaling and apoptosis (Perincherry et al, 2019). At present, there are four described fumonisin series: A, B, C and P. The four toxins of the Bseries are in general the most common, where fumonisin B1 (FB1) is the fumonisin with the highest mycotoxicological risk and abundance (Abbas et al, 1998; Logrieco et al, 2002; Alexander et al, 2009). This mycotoxin is associated with human oesophageal cancer (HEC) in China, Southeastern U.S.A., southern Africa and Italy (Franceschi et al, 1990; Marasas, 1995). When present in feed, FB1 pose a risk for animals as it can cause pulmonary oedema and hepatic syndrome in swine, altered hepatic and immune function in cattle, leukoencephalomalacia in horses and liver cancer in rats (Ross et al, 1990; Gelderblom et al, 1994). Therefore, the mycotoxins produced by F. verticillioides have been classified as carcinogenic to animals and possibly carcinogenic to humans (Logrieco et al. 2002; International Agency for Research on Cancer, 2021).

#### 2.2.1 Fumonisin genes

In general, B-series fumonisins are long-chain amino polyalcohols with a 20-carbon backbone including an amine function at carbon atom 2 (C-2), tricarballylic esters at C-14 and C-15 and methyl functions at C-12 and C-16 (Alexander *et al*, 2009). Differences between the four fumonisins in the B-series lie in the presence or absence of hydroxyl functions at C-4, C-5 and C-10 (Fig. 3). The one most often encountered, FB1, is a propane-1,2,3-tricarboxylic diester of 2-amino-12,16-dimethyl-3,5,10,14,15-pentahydroxycosane (Nelson *et al*, 1993; Rheeder *et al*, 2002). The genes responsible for fumonisin biosynthesis are for *F. verticillioides* located in one locus of 42-kb (FUM cluster, Fig. 4) (Desjardins & Proctor, 2007; Proctor *et al*, 2008). Thus far, it is predicted that only 11 out of 17 genes from this cluster are required for fumonisin synthesis (Desjardins & Proctor, 2007). *FUM1* encodes a polyketide synthase gene and is the first one of the cluster. Furthermore, *FUM8* is a gene that encodes an aminotransferase while *FUM13* of the cluster is most likely encoding C-3 carbonyl reductase (Bojja *et al*, 2004). Necessary oxygenation enzymes are represented by *FUM2* (C-10), *FUM3* (C-5), and *FUM6* (undetermined site) (Proctor *et al*, 2006). Genes necessary for esterification are *FUM14*, *FUM10, FUM7* and *FUM11*. Other genes of the cluster that are not vital for fumonisin

production are *FUM17, FUM18* and *FUM19* (Desjardins & Proctor, 2007). The function of *FUM20* is not yet understood (Alexander *et al*, 2009).



Figure 3: chemical structure of fumonisins from the B-series.



Figure 4: F. verticillioides FUM gene cluster coding for fumonisin mycotoxins. Arrows indicate the orientation of gene transcription, where green arrows are essential for fumonisin production and red arrows have indirect roles or are not essential. Information on the function of FUM 20 (in orange) is not yet available. Adapted from Alexander et al (2009).

#### 2.2.2 Fumonisin biosynthesis

Even though the responsible gene cluster is well investigated by now, it is still a challenge to determine the exact regulatory mechanism behind fumonisin synthesis (Sagaram *et al*, 2006). Here, the biosynthesis of FB1 by *F. verticillioides* will be explained in detail. The starting components of the fumonisin biosynthesis pathway have not yet been isolated, thus they are proposed based on the subsequent intermediates of the pathway that have been characterized. The first compound to be formed by *FUM1* protein (Fum1p) out of nine acetates and two methyl units is 10,14-dimethyloctadecanoic acid. Afterwards, it undergoes decarboxylative condensation with alanine by Fum8p (Fig. 5) (Alexander *et al*, 2009; Uhlig *et al*, 2012). This, most likely, results in 2-amino-12,16-dimethylicosane-3-one (Bojja *et al*, 2004). As a third step, this component will undergo hydroxylation by *FUM6* protein (Fum6p) at C-14

and C-15 (Alexander *et al*, 2009). The formed fumonisin analogue, at last, undergoes a C-3 carbonyl reduction, hydroxylation at C-10 and/or C-5 and C-14/C-15 esterification (Uhlig *et al*, 2012). Although these steps (respectively mediated by Fum13p, Fum2p and Fum14p/Fum10p) are visualized in Figure 5 to follow one another, their positions in the biosynthesis pathway are most likely not fixed and they can each occur in the absence of the other reactions. In addition, Fum7p and Fum11p presumably also play a role in the esterification (Alexander *et al*, 2009). In order to become FB1, the last step is a hydroxylation at C-5 and is mediated by Fum3p which is predicted to be a dioxygenase (Alexander *et al*, 2009).



Figure 5: biosynthesis of fumonisin B1 in Fusarium verticillioides starting from acetate. For enzymes in orange, the position in the biosynthesis pathway is not fixed. Adapted from Du et al. (2008) and Alexander et al. (2009).

#### 2.3 RNA interference

A broad variety of eukaryotic organisms possess a post-transcriptional gene silencing machinery, also known as RNA silencing or RNA interference (RNAi) (Pvott & Molnar, 2015; Li et al, 2018). RNAi was first observed in plants: while aiming to increase pigmentation of petunia florals by insertion of chalcone synthase (CHS) sequences, an adverse albino effect was witnessed (Napoli et al, 1990). At the time being, the discovery was called cosuppression. Later, the molecular mechanism behind this RNAi pathway was uncovered in 1998 by Fire et al. Since then, multiple types of naturally occurring small RNA molecules were identified, of which the most elaborately described ones are microRNAs (miRNAs), short interfering RNAs (siRNAs) and Piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNAs) (Meister & Tuschl, 2004). MicroRNAs and siRNAs have a lot in common. Both are small RNA molecules with a length of around 21-25 nucleotides generated by a similar molecular machinery (Dang et al, 2014). They are abundant in plants, animals and viruses where they play a key role in gene expression regulation as post-transcriptional regulators (Bushati & Cohen, 2007). The biggest difference between the two is their origin: miRNAs are synthesized out of hairpin structured transcripts whereas siRNAs are produced from dsRNA precursors. Both however, can also have an exogenous origin (Dang et al, 2014). PiRNAs are only found in animals and are very different. Their size ranges from 26-31 nucleotides and they mostly function in germline cells where they cause post-transcriptional gene silencing of genetic elements like retrotransposons (Luteiin & Ketting, 2013).

At first, the RNAi pathway was believed to be mainly a defense system against transposons, viruses and other exogenous sequences (Nicolás & Garre, 2017). Later, more interest was given to the endogenous functions of RNAi in development, growth, differentiation and cell death (Alvarez-Fernandez *et al*, 2011; O'Brien *et al*, 2018). In the following sections the focus lies on the siRNA pathway in fungi and plants which is most relevant for the research conducted in this thesis.

#### 2.3.1 SiRNA pathway in fungi

The first fungus that has been investigated for its active RNAi mechanisms is *Neurospora crassa*. After transformation of *N. crassa* with extra copies of a gene responsible for carotenoid production (*al-1*), an albino phenotype was observed. This, at the time unknown, active pathway found in the vegetative stage of this fungus was called 'quelling', a natural process to eliminate and control transposons (Romano & Macino, 1992). Later, it became clear that the RNAi mechanism in fungi is highly conserved and it is most likely that the common ancestor of fungi was in possession of a functional RNAi pathway (Nakayashiki *et al*, 2006; Choi *et al*, 2014).

Although the RNAi machinery can differ within as well as between organisms, some main defining components usually reoccur. In fungi, the first component of the pathway is RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) which is responsible for the production of double-stranded RNA (dsRNA) molecules out of single-stranded RNA precursors (Cogoni & Macino, 1999; Xie *et al*, 2004). In the following step, the produced dsRNA is cleaved into smaller pieces:

siRNAs. This role is usually carried out by Dicer enzymes that are RNase III family nucleases (MacRae & Doudna, 2007). Dicer-like enzymes are only found in eukaryotes and it is common to find more than one Dicer enzyme coding gene in fungi that possess an active RNAi pathway. In the case of N. crassa, two Dicer-like proteins are present: DCL-1 and DCL-2 (Dang et al, 2014). Out of the dsRNA, guide and passenger siRNA strands are formed and the passenger strand is usually degraded. After cleavage by Dicer, the Argonaute protein (AGO) comes into play. AGO proteins can bind the guide siRNA strand in a specific binding pocket (Dalakouras et al. 2020). Together with the siRNA, AGO will form an RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC) which will guide the siRNA to the mRNA target complementary sequence (Pratt & MacRae, 2009). When the siRNA and target sequence form a perfect complement, the mRNA is usually sliced and degraded. In case of a partial complement, the binding results in a translation blockage (Jackson & Standart, 2007) (Fig. 6). Again, the architecture of the AGO proteins in fungi is well-conserved but some differences between fungal species are possible. For example, the AGO protein of *Mucor circinelloides* (a popular species in RNAi research) is named AGO-1 whereas QDE-2 is the main AGO protein of N. crassa (Dang et al, 2011; Nicolás & Garre, 2017).

The diverse nature of RNAi pathways leads to its involvement in many functions in fungal species. As already mentioned before, the mechanism plays a crucial role in the defense against sequences inserted via transposons, viruses and other sources (Nicolás & Garre, 2017). Even more so, the RNAi machinery is often necessary for proper fungal pathogenesis since the mechanism makes it possible to silence the host defense and immunity genes by hijacking its RNAi machinery with fungal siRNAs (Weiberg *et al*, 2013). Additionally, it is proposed that the transient nature of the RNAi machinery opens the way to phenotypic plasticity and the possibility for rapid adaptation (Calo *et al*, 2014). Due to its high variability, the RNAi machinery proves very suitable for the investigation of gene function or the deliberate silencing of genes essential for fungal growth or mycotoxin production (Nakayashiki *et al*, 2005).



Figure 6: siRNA RNAi pathway in fungi starting from endogenous RNA precursors or exogenous dsRNA. Differences in use of DCL enzymes and AGO proteins are found between species.

#### 2.3.2 Interaction between fungal pathogens and host plant siRNA pathways

In plants, the RNAi machinery has often been used to combat pests and pathogens by deliberately silencing organism-specific gene sequences (Chen *et al*, 2016). This can lead to an increased plant resistance or tolerance against the pathogen (Muhammad *et al*, 2019). Additionally, the RNAi technology has proven very useful in the improvement of plant stress tolerance, crop yield and determination of gene functions (Kamthan *et al*, 2015).

In general, the RNAi machinery in plants is very similar to the one in fungi (Fig. 7) (Kamthan et al, 2015). It is again Dicer-like nucleases that will cleave dsRNA into functional siRNAs (Tang et al, 2003; Bouché et al, 2006). In plants, four clades of DCL proteins are found and they are responsible for the production of siRNAs with different lengths. In model organism Arabidopsis thaliana, siRNAs with a length of 22, 24 or 21 nt are produced by DCL2, DCL3 and DCL4 respectively while DCL1 produces microRNAs with a length of 21 or 22 nt (Borges & Martienssen, 2015; Muhammad et al, 2019). The AGO proteins also show a lot of variety. There are four plant Ago protein groups where AGO1, 2, 3, 5, 7 and 10 are involved in posttranscriptional gene silencing and AGO4, 6 and 9 in transcriptional gene silencing (Liu et al, 2018; Muhammad et al, 2019). In Arabidopsis thaliana, both siRNAs with 21 and 22 nt of length are loaded on AGO1. However, only together with the 22 nt variant is AGO 1 able to recruit RDR6 for transcribing the target sequence into dsRNA, which will then lead to synthesis of more siRNAs (Chen et al, 2010; Dalakouras et al, 2020). The 21 nt long siRNAs on the other hand will together with AGO1 find complementary target sequences and cleave the strands resulting in degradation (Mi et al, 2008). In addition, the 24 nt siRNAs are loaded onto AGO4 and the complex will be responsible for methylation of target sequences (Chan et al, 2004).

The organism of interest in this study, maize plants (*Zea mays*), has 5 different DCL proteins, 18 AGOs and 5 RDR proteins (Qian *et al*, 2011).



Figure 7: dsRNA pathway in plants. DCL4 processes the dsRNA into 21-nt long siRNAs. After loading on AGO1 this complex will cleave target sequences. DCL3 synthesizes 24-nt siRNAs and forms a complex with AGO4 to methylate the target sequence. DCL2 produces 22-nt siRNAs that form a complex with AGO1. The complex binds to the target and recruits RDR6 which is responsible for the creation of (secondary) siRNAs (Dalakouras et al, 2020).

RNAi molecules can move between organisms of different species. This communication can even cross the border of different kingdoms, as it is often witnessed between filamentous fungi or protists and host plants and animals. In these cases, the small RNAs are a form of pathogenhost communication (Tinoco *et al*, 2010a; Nowara *et al*, 2010). Proposed forms of transport that might facilitate the movement of small RNAs to different organisms are exosomes, membrane transporters, receptors and passive diffusion (Pyott & Molnar, 2015; Rutter & Innes, 2017). Pathogenic fungi can take advantage of the host plant RNAi machinery. When Fungal siRNAs are transported inside of the plant by means of vesicles, they can down-regulate host defense genes and thus enhance pathogenicity (Fig. 8) (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). For example, the fungus *Botrytis cinerea* secretes siRNAs that use the tomato plant AGO-1 to silence host genes important for defense pathways (Weiberg *et al*, 2013). Even more so, the same scientists discovered that a mismatch of the siRNA to the target sequence of 3-5 bp was still enough to successfully silence the target host defense gene. The other way around is also possible, host plants are able to use the RNAi machinery to their advantage in the defense

against pathogenic fungi. In this direction, the plant produced siRNAs can cross the border to the fungal hyphae in order to silence genes involved in virulence an pathogenicity (Fig. 8) (Wang *et al*, 2016). Since the 22 nt plant siRNAs are systemic and can be amplified by RdRp proteins, they will be most relevant in the interaction between fungi and host plant by means of extracellular vesicle transport.



Figure 8: interaction between a host plant and pathogenic fungi at the siRNA level. Fungal siRNAs can be transported by vesicles to the host plant cells. Here it can cause silencing of host defense genes. Likewise, the plant produces siRNAs (either naturally or from transgenic hairpin RNA cassettes) that can enter the fungal cells via vesicles or possibly RNA uptake transporters and passive diffusion. Adapted from Majumdar et al. (2017).

## 2.4 RNAi-based control of fungal pathogens

#### 2.4.1 Host-induced gene silencing

Investigations in plants have shown that RNA silencing signals are not restricted to the producing cells but are able to move to adhering cells by both short-range transport (10 - 15 cells) and long-range transport (across the whole tissue). It is proposed that plasmodesmata are responsible for symplastic transport. The plant phloem on the other hand might play a role in the long-range transport by source to sink dynamics (Pyott & Molnar, 2015; Machado *et al*, 2018).

The discovery that siRNAs are mobile and can move between organisms, has led to the creation of transgene host plants especially suited for this purpose. The transgenic plants produce siRNAs that can infiltrate the fungal pathogens and via this way silence fungal genes (Machado *et al*, 2018). This process is now known as host-induced gene silencing (HIGS) (Fig. 7). The first application on *Fusarium* species was carried out in 2010. Here, *GUS* ( $\beta$ -*glucuronidase*) from *F. verticillioides* was targeted by the use of transgenic tobacco plants. A hairpin dsRNA *GUS* fragment of 627-bp was expressed by the plant and transformed into siRNAs. The consequence was a high reduction in *GUS* expression in the invasive fungi (Tinoco *et al*, 2010a).

The following studies on HIGS focused more on *F. oxysporum*. A study by Ghag et al. (2014) targeted the genes *velvet* and *Fusarium transcription factor 1* in an attempt to control Fusarium

wilt disease in transgenic banana plants. As a result, the fungi showcased a reduction in growth and virulence. Later, in 2020, the same disease and fungal species were targeted by transgenic banana plants expressing dsRNA of fungal *C-24 sterol methyltransferase* (*ERG6*) and *cytochrome p450 lanosterol C-14a-demethylase* (*ERG11*) (Dou *et al*, 2020). Likewise, this resulted in inhibition of fungal growth and development. In addition, HIGS methods were used for *F. oxysporum* inhibition in transgenic tomato plants. In two separate studies, the silencing of the fungal *peroxisomal biogenesis factor 6 (PEX6)* and *ornithine decarboxylase (ODC)* genes was investigated, leading to moderate to high resistance of the plant to *F. oxysporum* (Tetorya & Rajam, 2018; Singh *et al*, 2020). In Arabidopsis, the fungal genes *FOW2, FRP1* and *OPR* were also silenced using HIGS with varying results, but overall a reduction in symptoms and pathogenicity of the fungus (Hu *et al*, 2016).

Other fungal species that have been targeted by HIGS are *F. graminearum* and *F. culmorum*. The former was used to investigate the gene silencing of *chitin synthase 3b* and *2 (Chs3b* and *Chs2)* in transgenic wheat plants (Cheng *et al*, 2015). The method proved highly effective as the fungal growth and virulence were significantly reduced. The attempted silencing of *F. culmorum* (*Fgl1*) (*Fmk1*),  $\beta$ -1,3-glucan synthase (*Gls1*) and *chitin synthase V* (*ChsV*) genes by HIGS resulted in a moderate reduction of the fungal spreading (Chen *et al*, 2016).

#### 2.4.2 Spray-induced gene silencing

Various studies on HIGS have proven that RNAi is a promising way of targeting plant pathogens. However, implementing this method in food production comes with challenges. Most of them are related to the fact that many countries are still non-acceptive about GMOs in crop production and to the difficulty of certain crop plants to be transformed (Machado *et al*, 2018). As a possible solution to these problems, another RNAi approach was put forward by Wang et al. (2016): spray-induced gene silencing (SIGS). The technique relies on the same mechanisms as conventional RNAi with HIGS, but instead exogenous siRNAs or dsRNAs are sprayed directly onto the plants or fruits (Machado *et al*, 2018).

In this application, there are two ways for the siRNAs to reach the fungal target gene. In the first case, the plant processes the externally applied dsRNA and the produced siRNAs are taken up by the fungi. Alternatively, the fungus can take up the dsRNA from the leaf and process it into functional siRNAs using its own RNAi machinery (Fig. 9). It has been shown with fluorescently labeled siRNAs that fungi can take up siRNAs from the environment, although the exact mechanism behind this is not yet completely understood (Jöchl *et al*, 2009). Uptake of extracellular vesicles through endocytosis or extracellular fusogenic proteins has been found to play a role in the transport of siRNAs from fungi to host plants and vice versa (Nowara *et al*, 2010; Knip *et al*, 2014; Haag *et al*, 2015; Han & Luan, 2015). If plant extracellular vesicles are the main mode of siRNA transport, it might be important to keep the lifestyle of the fungus in mind. In case of a necrotrophic mode of action, the host plant cells may encounter severe damage which could result in loss of vesicle integrity (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). Another mechanism for RNA uptake in animals is via transmembrane transporters (Shih & Hunter, 2011). It is still unknown whether fungi possess a similar transporter mechanism. In the fungus *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*, GFP-labeled siRNAs have revealed the involvement of clathrin-

mediated endocytosis in dsRNA uptake. Moreover, the dsRNA uptake was not homogenous and was seen mostly in actively growing regions of the fungi like newly formed hyphal branches and septate regions (Wytinck *et al*, 2020).



Figure 9: simplified mode of action of host-induced gene silencing (in pink) and spray-induced gene silencing (on the left and right) between a pathogenic fungi and its host plant.

SIGS was used the first time to silence the *Botrytis cinerea* genes *DCL1* and *DCL2* by spray application on a variety of fruits, vegetables and leaves. The application resulted in a reduction of grey mould disease formation compared to controls (Wang et al, 2016). After this discovery, it didn't take long before trials of SIGS on F. graminearum were conducted. The first dsRNA reported to successfully inhibit the fungus by SIGS is CYP3 (792 nt) (Koch et al, 2016). This fragment targets three genes: CYP51A, CYP51B and CYP51C, all of which are cytochrome P450 lanosterol C-14α-demethylases. The treated barley leaves showed a substantial reduction of the size of the brown lesions as well as a reduction in gene expression of the CYP51 genes ranging from 48 to 58%. This inhibition was not only seen on the directly sprayed parts of the leaves but also on the non-sprayed areas. A later study in 2020 by Werner et al. also investigated the possible application of SIGS to inhibit F. graminearum infections. In this case, the RNAi machinery genes ARGONAUTE (AGO1 and AGO2) and DICER (DCL1 and DCL2) were used to create dsRNA constructs. Detached barley leaves were sprayed with the dsRNA and drop-inoculated with fungal conidia 48 hours later. Especially the silencing of the DICER genes proved successful in increasing the plant resistance to the fungus (Werner et al, 2020).

Thus far, it doesn't seem like fungi have a preference for the uptake of short or long dsRNA (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). What does seem to be true is that the efficiency of dsRNA uptake can

differ greatly between fungal species, cell types and developmental stages (Qiao *et al*, 2021). It has been witnessed that fungal conidia harvested from a fungus treated with siRNA and subcultured *in vitro* still show signs of the applied siRNA. This suggests that the signal can perpetuate to subsequent generations after application (Masanga *et al*, 2015; Zhang *et al*, 2016). Another application yet to be investigated is whether siRNAs might also prove useful in the priming of seeds against pathogens and their mycotoxins (Majumdar *et al*, 2017).

In conclusion, SIGS is a relatively young RNAi application but proves to be remarkably efficient in silencing important pathogenic fungal genes. Lots of possible targets and applications are yet to be investigated. Hence, the motivation to focus in this dissertation on SIGS to reduce virulence and pathogenicity of *F. verticillioides* infections on maize crops.

#### 2.4.3 Practical challenges

The future of SIGS as an application in fungal pest control looks promising. It becomes more and more apparent that resistance against conventional fungicides is a problem of high importance (Spolti *et al*, 2014). This is often the consequence of over application of the fungicidal component or the frequent targeting of the same chemical group. In field cases where most pathogens can be well-managed with conventional methods except for one species, it might be very helpful to use SIGS to target this one outlying species (Machado *et al*, 2018). Especially the high sequence specificity of SIGS will provide a great advantage in these cases. In practice, HIGS will not be very useful for post-harvest applications. SIGS, on the other hand, could be more effective to control pathogens post-harvest (Machado *et al*, 2018).

As with every new evolving pest-control technique, there are some challenges involved. For SIGS in particular, most of them relate to the degradation of the dsRNA in the environment and the possible risk of targeting non-target organisms, as will be discussed here.

#### 2.4.3.1 DsRNA degradation and off-target effects

When put into practice, run-off products of the spray-applied dsRNA or dsRNA produced by GM plants may enter the neighboring soil or water. Thus, the application of RNAi in pest control raises some questions about environmental safety and uptake by off-target organisms. Only a few studies have actively looked into this matter and will be shortly discussed here.

A dsRNA used for pest control in the Western Corn Rootworm (DvSnf7) was investigated for its degradation rate in agricultural soil samples collected in the field in Ilinois, Missouri and North Dakota (USA) (Dubelman *et al*, 2014). DvSnf7 was added to the different soils at a concentration of 7.5  $\mu$ g per gram of soil. The half-life (DT<sub>50</sub>) of the dsRNA ranged from 18 to 29h based on the assay and soil sample. In all three soils, 90% of degradation (DT<sub>90</sub>) occurred in less than 35h. After 2 days, the dsRNA was undetectable and thus fully degraded.

The same group later published another paper after investigating the same process in aquatic environments with different chemical and physical properties (Fischer *et al*, 2017). The added concentration of DvSnf7 ranged from 300-330 ng RNA/mL water. The DT<sub>50</sub> was less than 3 days and DT<sub>90</sub> less than 4 days. At 7 days, the dsRNA was no longer detectable in the water.

Albright *et al.* (2017) deliberated further on this subject and tested different aquatic microcosms combinations of sterilized/unsterilized sediment and sterilized/unsterilized water. In this study, the added concentration of dsRNA was 1.5  $\mu$ g/mL water. This experiment confirmed the rapid degradation of dsRNA in aquatic environments since the molecules were undetectable after 96h.

Research by Parker *et al.* (2019) has further focused on the degradation of dsRNA molecules in agricultural soils. By the use of phosphorus-32 radiolabeled dsRNA, they were able to detect dsRNA with higher precision (~ ng/g soil) compared to previously used techniques. Their findings prove that the dsRNA reduction in the soil is not only due to degradation (with or without microorganisms). Alongside these processes, dsRNA is also adsorbed to particle surfaces, which causes losses that seemed to be underestimated in prior studies. The rate by which these processes happens is depending on soil-specific factors like texture, organic matter content and basal respiration rate. In conclusion, all of the studies conducted thus far showcased a rapid degradation of the dsRNA in the environment, which is most likely due to nuclease enzymes (Albright *et al*, 2017). This information will be very useful in future ecological risk assessments.

At the moment, possibilities of off-target transcript knockdown are under investigation. It was initially thought that even one mismatch of the siRNA to a target sequence would be enough to avoid gene silencing (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). However, it was later on shown that a partial complement (15 out of 19 base pairs) with the target mRNA sequence can already cause off-target effects (Jackson *et al*, 2003; Persengiev *et al*, 2004; Jackson *et al*, 2006). Nevertheless, this work was focused on the medical field and it is therefore not certain that the same kind of partial complement could also cause off-target effects in fungi. Therefore, it is crucial to keep in mind and detect any possible off-target genes before and during dsRNA design. Sequence complementarity-based approaches with computational tools could assist in this process (Taning *et al*, 2020). Even though it looks like RNAi is a promising and safe future pest control agent, more high-level studies are needed to provide general confidence in the safety of this fast-evolving technique.

#### 2.4.3.2 DsRNA uptake through food

The possible uptake of applied dsRNA by animals and humans and the following possibility of altered gene expression is an emerging and important research topic. However, plants are natural producers of dsRNAs, microRNAs and siRNAs. Thus, humans take up exogenous dsRNAs and siRNAs from plants on a regular basis as a naturally occurring process (Machado *et al*, 2018). In the unlikely case where the dsRNA or siRNA is still intact after ingestion and going through the digestive tract, the molecules have to reach the target tissue in high enough quantity and with an almost perfect sequence complementarity (Roberts *et al*, 2015). Some studies concerning this topic have been conducted. A study by Zhang et al. (2012) has found evidence of the delivery of siRNA into mammalian systems. Most other studies don't show any proof of gene expression alteration after uptake of exogenous applied dsRNAs or siRNAs or failed to replicate the data of Zhang et al. (Witwer *et al*, 2013; Witwer & Hirschi, 2014). Some however, found data consistent with the original study (Wang *et al*, 2012; Beatty *et al*, 2014).

Additionally, another question that should be asked is whether the siRNAs that make it to the mammalian gut have the power to affect the present gut bacterial populations (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). Since bacteria don't possess the RNAi machinery like eukaryotes but rely mostly on CRISPR/Cas systems for gene silencing, this scenario seems rather unlikely (Horvath & Barrangou, 2010; Sherman *et al*, 2015).

There is still a lack of independent corroborating data concerning this topic and future studies will hopefully bring more insight for risk assessment purposes (Roberts *et al*, 2015; Machado *et al*, 2018).

#### 2.3.4.3 Other challenges

The exogenous application of spraying dsRNA on plants might only work actively for approximately five to seven days (Gan *et al*, 2010). Therefore, it is useful to find ways of applying that guarantee a longer effect. Recently, clay nanosheets have been investigated for the purpose of applying dsRNA onto plants. When layered double hydroxide clay nanosheets were loaded with the dsRNA and sprayed onto leaves, the dsRNA did not wash off and was still detectable 30 days after application. Protection against the targeted virus was still present 20 days after spraying (Mitter *et al*, 2017). While trying another way of improving the adhesion of the dsRNA onto the leaves, the surfactant Silwett L-77 has been used during spray application experiments (McLoughlin *et al*, 2018). Other possibly helpful agents are peptide-based RNA delivery systems and cationic nanoparticles (Numata *et al*, 2014; Jiang *et al*, 2014; Dubrovina & Kiselev, 2019).

Another factor to take into account is the costs associated with dsRNA production. At the moment, kits used for dsRNA synthesis are relatively expensive (Das & Sherif, 2020). However, industrial-scale applications are in development in several agricultural businesses (Palli, 2014). This is also noticeable in the production price. Today, it is possible to produce dsRNA at \$60 per gram wherein 2008 the cost would be \$12 500 for the same amount (Zotti *et al*, 2018; Dalakouras *et al*, 2020; Das & Sherif, 2020). This is a beneficial evolution given that per hectare of agricultural soil, 2 to 10 gram of dsRNA would be needed (de Andrade & Hunter, 2016). Some high-scale production techniques in the making at the moment are microbial fermentation technology (RNAgri, 2020) and the use of bacterial minicells to produce encapsulated dsRNAs (AgroSpheres, 2020).

#### 2.5 Genes of interest

#### 2.5.1 Chs3b

The cell wall of most fungi is build out of  $\beta$ -1,3-glucans interwoven with chitin microfibrils which are embedded in a gel-like matrix consisting of glycoproteins and  $\alpha$ -1,3-glucan polysaccharides (Riquelme et al, 2018). The chitin part of the cell wall is the most abundant component and is of major importance to the integrity and shape of the cells. The long microfibrils are synthesized at the cell surface at sites of cell wall expansion by chitin synthase (Chs) membrane proteins (Riguelme & Bartnicki-García, 2008). In fungi, the chitin synthases are placed into seven different classes based on their amino acid sequences. They play various roles in both virulence and development (Cheng et al, 2015). The Chs proteins are inactively transported by vesicles (Riquelme et al, 2018). The fact that the chitin synthases are not present in plants or mammals makes them promising antifungal targets. A study of Cheng et al. (2015) tried to identify the Chs genes that are essential for F. graminearum growth and infection. This species has eight Chs genes and among them Chs3b showed the highest level of expression throughout a seven day colonization of wheat. Thus, they chose to silence this chitin synthase gene by HIGS and found that it was essential for fungal growth and infection. Consequently, *Chs3b* was chosen as target gene for *F. verticillioides* treatment in this study. Eight chitin synthase genes were identified in this species but it is unclear whether knock-out of the Chs3b gene could have the same lethal effects as it has in F. graminearum (Larson et al, 2011).

#### 2.5.2 eGFP

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) was first obtained from the jellyfish *Aequorea Victoria* and has since been used as a reporter for monitoring gene expression and localization (Chalfie *et al*, 1994). In eukaryotic cells, GFP expression leads to green fluorescence when excited by blue or ultraviolet light (Zhang *et al*, 1996). Since the sensitivity of the wild-type GFP is below that of standard reporter proteins, an enhanced GFP (eGFP) variant was created which is 35 times brighter and more easily expressed and folded (Cormack *et al*, 1996). The *F. graminearum* strain used in this study (PH-1) is marked with eGFP and will serve as a control for gene silencing.

## 3. Methodology

## 3.1 Species and Sampling

Isolates of the fungi *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides* were used in this investigation. The F. *verticillioides* isolate was isolated in Vietnam and kindly provided by Minh Trang Tran. For more information on this strain I kindly refer to Tran et al. (2021a+b). For *F. graminearum* was the reference strain PH1 which was GFP-tagged. PH-1 (Michigan State University, USA) is a *F. graminearum* isolate that produces type B mycotoxins and has been widely studied around the world (Trail & Common, 2000). It is full-genome sequenced and always used as *Fusarium* genome reference which makes it more convenient for molecular studies (King *et al*, 2017). They were grown on potato dextrose agar (PDA) (40 g/L) and in liquid medium containing 20 g/L of malt extract broth. In order to induce spore formation, inoculated plates were placed under near-UV light for at least one week. Afterwards, conidia were harvested in sterile water, counted under the microscope and diluted to a final concentration of  $1 \times 10^7$  conidia/mL for *F. verticillioides* and  $1 \times 10^6$  conidia/mL for *F. graminearum*.

#### 3.2 RNA extraction and cDNA synthesis

Fungal samples for RNA extraction were grown in liquid malt extract medium (20 g/L) for one week before harvesting. Afterwards the fungal biomass was centrifuged for 5 min at 10 000 rpm, freeze dried overnight and crushed. RNA was extracted by means of TRIzol<sup>™</sup> reagent and the protocol provided by the producer (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, U.S.A). For the following cDNA synthesis, the iScript<sup>™</sup> cDNA synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad, Hercules, U.S.A.) was used according to the protocol.

#### 3.3 Construction of Templates and dsRNA synthesis

#### 3.3.1 Chs3b and eGFP

The target gene sequences for *Chs3b (F. verticillioides), Chs3b (F. graminearum)* and *eGFP* were amplified with a temperature gradient PCR ranging from 50.0 - 58.1 °C and *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* cDNA using self-designed primers (see supplement I). Afterwards, the fragments were loaded on 1.5% agarose gel at 100V and stained with ethidium-bromide. Another PCR reaction was then started at the temperature with the clearest band on gel for each of the genes (52.7 °C). When the PCR fragments showed a clear band at the desired length, the PCR product was used as template for another PCR amplification in order to increase the fragment concentration. A clean-up of the resulting PCR products was carried out by use of the Wizard SV gel and PCR clean-up kit<sup>®</sup> (Promega, Madison, US). The resulting concentrations of the PCR products are listed in supplement I.

#### 3.3.2 DsRNA synthesis

The PCR products were used as template for dsRNA synthesis with the MEGAscript<sup>™</sup> RNAi Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, U.S.A.). The transcription reaction assembly, RNA annealing reaction, nuclease digestion and purification of the dsRNA were carried out by following the instructions of the producer. A 10X diluted sample was taken after transcription reaction, RNA annealing and final clean-up to load on 1.5% agarose gel. This allowed for a

visual confirmation of the correct fragment size. The final dsRNA concentrations agarose gel visualizations are listed in supplement I.

## 3.4 Microscopic assay

Microscopic slides were prepared by using a modified method described by Riddell (1950). In short, microscopic slides and glass cover slides were heat treated with a Bunsen burner and placed in a sterilized petri dish to cool. From a prepared PDA plate (40 g/L), 1 cm<sup>2</sup> shapes of around 2 mm thick were cut and one square was placed in the middle of each microscopic slide. On each agar square, 2.5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1.0 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL for F. verticillioides and  $1 \times 10^6$  conidia/mL for F. graminearum) was placed on two opposing sides along the edge. For the control slides, 2.5 µL of water was added on top of the conidia suspension and for the dsRNA treatment slides, 2.5 µL of dsRNA (100 ng/µL) was added. The agar squares were covered with the glass cover slides and the petri dishes were closed and sealed. Three slides were prepared for each treatment (F. verticillioides chs3b, F. graminearum chs3b and F. graminearum eGFP) along with three control water slides for each. After 24h of incubation on room temperature, pictures were taken with Olympus IX81 inverted microscope equipped with an Olympus XC50 camera. An X-Cite Fluorescence LED illuminator was used to visualize the GFP signals present in the F. graminearum conidia (Excelitas, Waltham, U.S.A). The germinated conidia lengths were measured with the Cell/F imaging software (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan)

### 3.5 In-vitro dsRNA assay

#### 3.5.1 Experimental set-up

A droplet of 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL for *F. verticillioides* or 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL for *F. graminearum*) was put in the middle of each well of a 6 well plate. In the case of *F. verticillioides* application, the 6-well plates were filled with solid PDA (40g/L). The plates with *F. graminearum* were filled with a mycotoxin production inducing mineral medium containing 30 g sucrose, 30 g agar, 2 g L-arginine, 1 g KH2PO4, 0.5 g MgSO4·7H2O, 0.5 g KCI, 10 mg FeSO4·7H2O and 200  $\mu$ L of trace element solution (per 100 mL: 5 g citric acid, 5 g ZnSO4·7H2O, 0.25 g CuSO4·5H2O, 50 mg MnSO4·H2O, 50 mg H3BO3, 50 mg NaMoO4·2H2O) in 1 L. The medium pH was set at 6.5 with addition of NaOH (Gardiner *et al*, 2009).

In the first trial on the 6-well plates, 5  $\mu$ L of *Chs3b* dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L) was added either only at the beginning of the inoculation to the conidia or applied daily on the growing fungi. The control plate consisted of the same starting concentration of conidia but 5  $\mu$ L of nuclease-free water was added instead at the beginning of the experiment. Separate plates were made for *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum*, where for the latter extra plates were made to test the *eGFP* dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L). Later, in the second trial on the 6-well plates, and extra control plate was added for each fungi and dsRNA combination where the water control was not only added at the beginning but also daily. Pictures were taken each 24h with a Wiwam automated phenotyping robot (Wiwam, Eeklo, Belgium) for 4 days in case of *F. verticillioides* and 3 days in case of *F. graminearum*. The surface area covered by the fungi on the agar plate was

measured with ImageJ open source image processing program (Schneider *et al*, 2012) (Supplement II).

A final 6-well trial was carried out with the same experimental set-up. The only difference being that extra medium types were added. For *F. verticillioides,* the first medium in the trial is the solid PDA as described before. In addition, the same set-up was carried out on a medium containing a 10X dilution of the PDA medium (replacing the needed amount of PDA with normal white agar). The last medium contained normal white agar (40 g/L) and tap water to create an environment with very minimal nutrient sources for the fungi. For the *eGFP* and *chs3b F. graminearum* plates, extra set-ups were added of the previously described mineral medium in a 10X dilution and the same water medium as for *F. verticillioides* (Supplement II).

### 3.5.2 Mycotoxin analysis by LC-MS/MS

At the end of the last *in-vitro* 6-well trial, the daily control and daily application plates of *F. verticillioides* were selected to be used for fumonisin analyses. For each treatment, (one daily control plate and one daily application plate for each of the three different media) three wells were randomly selected and crushed by using liquid nitrogen. In addition, six wells containing only solid PDA medium were also crushed and used as blank samples. An amount of 1 gram was weighted for each of the samples and used for further analyses.

The following protocol was modified from De Boevre *et al* (2012) and Tran *et al* (2021). All the samples were spiked with 20  $\mu$ L of an internal de-epoxy-deoxynivalenol (DOM) standard (50 ng/ $\mu$ L, 1000  $\mu$ g/kg end concentration). In addition, the blanks were also spiked with fumonisin (FB1, FB2 and FB3) standard for the creation of a standard curve (0 to 4000  $\mu$ g/kg). Afterwards, the samples were extracted in 5 mL of extraction solvent containing ethyl acetate and 1 % formic acid and vortexed well. Later they were agitated for 15 min on an overhead shaker and centrifuged for 15 min at 3000 g. The supernatant was passed through a folded paper filter into a new extraction tube and the solution was vaporized under a nitrogen flow at 1 atm in a water bath at 40 °C. Afterwards, the remaining residue was resolved in 200  $\mu$ L injection solvent containing mobile phase A [water/methanol/acetic acid (94/5/1, v/v/v) + 5 mM ammonium acetate] with a 60/40 ratio of A/B. To continue, the samples were vortexed well and transferred onto an Ultrafree® centrifuge filter (Millipore Bedford, MA, U.S.A.) followed by ultracentrifugation at 10 000 g for 10 min. At last, the filtrate was transferred to a HPLC micro-injection vial prior to injection into the LC-MS/MS.

Analysis with LC-MS/MS was done by a previously described protocol by Ediage *et al* (2011). A Waters Acquity HPLC-Quattro Premier XE mass spectrometer (Waters, Milford, MA, USA) in positive electrospray ioni- zation (ESI+) mode was used for the detection and quantification of the three targets FB1, FB2 and FB3 in each sample. The chromatic separation was obtained by use of a Symmetry C18 (150 mm × 2.1 mm, i.d. 5  $\mu$ m) column with a guard column (10 mm × 2.1 mm i.d.) of the same material (Waters, Zellik, Belgium) (De Boevre *et al*, 2012; Tran *et al*, 2021a).

#### 3.6 Infection of seedlings

Maize seeds (NK7328; Syngenta, Basel, Switzerland) were disinfected in 1.4% sodium hypochlorite, washed with sterile water and dried to the air for about 2 hours. Afterwards, the seeds were planted in moist vermiculite until root and shoot just appeared. They were then transferred to a sterile petri dish where seedlings with roughly the same root and shoot length were inoculated in conidia suspension of *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides* for one hour. Afterwards, the seedlings were planted in glass tubes containing 200 gram of quartz sand mixed with 1.5 gram polymer per kg of sand and placed under growing lights. Ten mL of nutrient solution containing KNO<sub>3</sub> (2M), Ca(NO<sub>3</sub>)<sub>2</sub>\*4H<sub>2</sub>O (2M), iron (Sprint 138) (15 g/L), MgSO<sub>4</sub>\*7H<sub>2</sub>O (2M), CuSO<sub>4</sub>\*5H<sub>2</sub>O (0.08 g/L), Na<sub>2</sub>MoO<sub>4</sub>\*2H<sub>2</sub>O (0.12 g/L), MnCl<sub>2</sub>\*H<sub>2</sub>O (1.81 g/L), H<sub>3</sub>BO<sub>3</sub> (2.86 g/L) and KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> (1M) was added to each tube. The plants were watered every 2 days with 5 mL of tap water. After 16 days of growing in a standard lab environment, the plants were harvested and the length and weight of the plant, leaves and roots was measured with an analytical balance. The biomass was afterwards dried for 7 days at 60°C after which the dry biomass was again weighted on an analytical balance.

#### 3.7 Detached leaf assay

Maize seeds (NK7328; Syngenta, Basel, Switzerland) were disinfected in 1.4% sodium hypochlorite, washed with sterile water and dried to the air for about 2 hours. Afterwards, the seeds were planted in moist vermiculite and grown for two weeks or until the desired plant height was reached. The first leaf was cut from the plant with a sterile scalpel and washed in 1.4% sodium hypochlorite followed by sterile water. The leaves were either wounded by a small diagonal scratch with a scalpel on the upwards facing side of the leaf or left intact.

#### 3.7.1 Infection trial

The first detached leaf experiment was an infection trial to form a solid representation of the infection symptoms of *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides*. Six unwounded and six wounded leaves were placed on plant agar plates (40 g/L) followed by infection with 10  $\mu$ L *F. verticillioides* conidia (~0.5 × 10<sup>7</sup>/mL) and the same amount of leaves with 10  $\mu$ L *F. graminearum* conidia (~0.5 × 10<sup>6</sup>/mL). As a control, six unwounded and six wounded leaves were inoculated with 10 $\mu$ L sterile water. Every 24h, multispectral pictures were taken with a Wiwam automated phenotyping robot (Wiwam, Eeklo, Belgium) for five days (Supplement III).

#### 3.7.2 Chs3b and eGFP

The effect of the dsRNA on the fungal infection was first tested with *Chs3b* and *eGFP* constructs. Seven plant agar plates were used for the first trial with each containing five wounded maize leaves (Supplement III). For this trial the third leaf of each plant was used to see whether this would increase the consistency of the experiment. One control plate for each fungi was inoculated with 5  $\mu$ L of approximately  $1.0 \times 10^7$  conidia/mL of *F. verticillioides* or *F. graminearum* of  $1.0 \times 10^6$  conidia/mL and 5  $\mu$ L of sterile water. The third plate was inoculated with 5  $\mu$ L of *F. verticillioides* conidia like the previous plates together with 5  $\mu$ L of *F. verticillioides* specific *Chs3b* dsRNA in a concentration of 200 ng/ $\mu$ L. The fourth plate is the same as the third but instead *F. graminearum* conidia (1.0 X  $10^6$  conidia/mL) and *F.* 

graminearum specific *Chs3b* dsRNA was applied. The fifth plate consisted of 5  $\mu$ L *F. graminearum* conidia like described before and 5  $\mu$ L *F. graminearum* strain specific *eGFP* dsRNA. The next plate is the same with the only difference that *F. verticillioides* conidia were used. Here, the *eGFP* dsRNA should not have an effect and this is thus a control plate. At last, the final plate also contained five leaves where the first two were inoculated with 10  $\mu$ L sterile water, the next one with 10  $\mu$ L of *F. verticillioides* specific *Chs3b* (200 ng/ $\mu$ L) and the last with 10  $\mu$ L of *F. graminearum* specific *Chs3b* (200 ng/ $\mu$ L). Pictures were taken with a Wiwam automated phenotyping robot (Wiwam, Eeklo, Belgium) every 24h for five days (Supplement III).

A second trial was carried out the same way as the infection trial with the first leaves of the plants (Supplement III). As in the infection trial, six leaves were used per plate. The experiment is the same as the first *Chs3b* and *eGFP* trial except that 5  $\mu$ L of dsRNA is initially applied in a concentration of 100 ng/ $\mu$ L. During this trial, again 1.0 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL of *F. verticillioides* were used and 1.0 × 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL of *F. graminearum*. This in order to get a final concentration on the leaves at time of infection of respectively 0.5 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL and 0.5 × 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL, as was the case in the first infection trial. During the five days lasting trial, the dsRNA is applied daily right after taking pictures with the a Wiwam automated phenotyping robot.
## 4. Results

The colors used for the visual representation of the data in the result section are allocated according to treatment. Negative controls (water) are visualized in green, positive controls (conidia suspension without dsRNA treatment) are orange to red and the dsRNA treated samples are always depicted in blue colors.

### 4.1 Microscopic Assay

DsRNA was created for the chitin synthase 3b gene (*chs3b*) of *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* specifically, along with dsRNA designed to target the eGFP gene which is incorporated into the used *F. graminearum* strain (Supplement I). Microscopic slides were made in triplicates containing 2.5  $\mu$ L of conidia suspension (1 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL for *F. verticillioides* and 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL for *F. graminearum*) and 2.5  $\mu$ L of water (control) or 2.5  $\mu$ L of conidia suspension and 2.5  $\mu$ L of dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L). Pictures of germinated conidia were taken approximately 24 hours after preparation of the slides (five pictures per slide).

After germination, the microconidia of *F. verticillioides* were hard to distinguish from the formed mycelium (Fig. 10 B, C). Therefore, the length of the total germinated spore was measured for all the spores on each of the five pictures that were taken per microscopic slide. In total, 239 spores were measured for the control group and 272 for the dsRNA treated slides. Based on a Mann-Whitney U test, no significant difference in length between the two treatments was witnessed (Fig. 10 A, p = 0.16). Upon further inspection at a higher magnification, no visible differences were observed in the cell membrane or overall mycelium structure between the two groups.



Figure 10: A) germinated Fusarium verticillioides spore length according to control or chs3b dsRNA treatment of the spore suspension carried out on 15 microscopic pictures for each. Statistical comparison based on Mann-Whitney U test. B) microscopic picture of conidia treated with water (control) C) microscopic picture of conidia treated with chs3b dsRNA (100 ng/µL). Red and blue indicators visualize the measurement method.

The macroconidia of *F. graminearum* typically germinate at both ends of the spore. In addition, side branches can also be formed at other septa (Fig. 11 B and C). First of all, the new mycelium at both the ends of the conidia was measured on the microscopic pictures. A total of 320 measurements were made for the control group and 298 for the dsRNA treated samples. Based on a Mann-Whitney U test, no significant difference in length between the two treatments was witnessed (Fig. 11 A, p = 0.51). Upon further inspection at a higher magnification, again no visible differences were observed in the cell membrane or overall mycelium structure between the two groups.



Figure 11: A) germinated Fusarium graminearum spore length according to control or chs3b dsRNA treatment of the spore suspension carried out on 15 microscopic pictures for each. Lengths measured at both sides of the germinating spore. Statistical comparison based on Mann-Whitney U test. B) microscopic picture of conidia treated with water (control) C) microscopic picture of conidia treated with chs3b dsRNA (100 ng/µL). Red and blue indicators visualize the measurement method.

On the same microscopic pictures, the number and length of the side branches were obtained. A total of 54 side branches were present in the control group pictures and 105 were counted in the dsRNA treated ones. Visually, it seemed that the side branches of the dsRNA treated slides were shorter when compared to the control. However, based on a Mann-Whitney U test, no significant difference in length of the side branches between the two treatments was witnessed (Fig. 12 A, p = 0.14). In addition, the number of side branches for each spore was noted and the percentage of spores with either 0, 1, 2, or 3 side branches calculated (Fig 12 B). After visualization, it looked like the dsRNA treated samples overall produced more side branches than the control treatment. According to a Mann-Whitney U, no significant difference in amount of side branches was present (p = 0.686).



Figure 12: A) germinated Fusarium graminearum conidia side branch length according to control or chs3b dsRNA treated conidia suspension carried out on 15 microscopic pictures for each. Statistical comparison based on Mann-Whitney U test. B) proportional number of side branches according to control or chs3b dsRNA treated spore suspension C) microscopic picture of conidia treated with chs3b dsRNA (100 ng/µL). Yellow indicator visualizes the measurement method.

At last, pictures were taken of the *eGFP* dsRNA treated *F. graminearum* slides and the *F. graminearum* control slides treated with water. No visual difference was evident between the treatments in the GFP signals transmitted by conidia or mycelium (Fig 13). Nevertheless, it is important to bear in mind that this is only a visual constatation and not based on quantitative data.



Control

Chs3b treatment

Figure 13: microscopic pictures of GFP signal transmitted by Fusarium graminearum conidia and mycelium for the control treatment with water (A and B) and conidia treated with chs3b dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L, C and D).

#### 4.2 In-vitro assay

#### 4.2.1 Six-well plate assay

In order to examine the effects of the dsRNA treatment on a larger scale and longer timeframe, an *in-vitro* assay with 6-well plates was developed. Four plates were used for each dsRNA and pathogen combination (*F. verticillioides chs3b, F. graminearum chs3b* and *F. graminearum eGFP*): a control plate inoculated with 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1.0 × 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL conidia/mL for *F. verticillioides* and 1 × 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL for *F. graminearum*) and 5  $\mu$ L sterile water, a treatment plate with 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension and 5  $\mu$ L dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L), a second control plate where the 5  $\mu$ L sterile water is added daily and a fourth plate where the 5  $\mu$ L dsRNA treatment is added daily (Supplement II). The plates for *F. verticillioides* contained PDA medium whereas *F. graminearum* plates were filled with mineral medium. Pictures were taken each 24h with a Wiwam custom-build multispectral phenotyping platform. The assay lasted for four days for *F. verticillioides* but only three days for *F. graminearum*, since the faster growth rate of this fungus enabled it to fill the entire well more rapidly. After validating the normality of the data with a Shapiro-Wilk test, an ANOVA test was conducted followed (when significant) by a Dunnett's post-hoc test. In the latter, the three treatments (daily control, daily dsRNA application and dsRNA application at the beginning) were each compared to the water control.

On the second trial day, the area covered by *F. verticillioides* treated with *chs3b* dsRNA (either applied at the trial start or daily) showed a significant difference compared to the control (Dunnett's test p < 0.05, Fig. 14). Three days after the start of the trial this was only the case for the daily applied dsRNA treatment. At the last trial day, there was no longer a significant difference between the four treatments. Pictures of the control plate during the four days of trial are added to Supplement II for reference.



Figure 14: graphical representation of the area covered on 6 well-plate during 4 days of trial according to treatment by Fusarium verticillioides starting from 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 x 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL). C = control with conidia suspension and water (5  $\mu$ L), DC = control with daily application of water (5  $\mu$ L), T5 = conidia suspension with chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L, 100ng/ $\mu$ L) and T5D = chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L) applied daily. Statistical analyses based on ANOVA test and Dunnett's test, all statistical analyses are performed in R.

During the three days lasting trial for *F. graminearum*, there was no significant difference between the treatments and control on any given day (Fig. 15 A). In addition, there was also no effect witnessed on the corrected GFP (cGFP) values on the plates with added *eGFP* dsRNA (Fig. 15 B). The cGFP values are measured by the multispectral phenotyping platform and used to analyze the GFP signal emitted by the fungal pathogen. In this case, there is a background cGFP signal of around 1000 present. However, this background noise can differ greatly between trials depending on the used media, application method and/or camera settings. Since it takes a while for the conidia to germinate and the fungus to start the GFP protein production, the first day of trial is a good indication of the background noise present. Pictures of the control plate during the four days of trial are added to the Supplement II for reference.



Figure 15: A) graphical representation of the area covered on 6 well-plate during 3 days of trial according to treatment by Fusarium graminearum starting from 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 x 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL). B) graphical representation of cGFP signal measured during the trial. C = control with conidia suspension and water (5  $\mu$ L), DC = control with daily application of water (5  $\mu$ L), T5 = conidia suspension with chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L , 100ng/ $\mu$ L) and T5D = chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L) applied daily. Statistical analyses based on ANOVA test and Dunnett's test, all statistical analyses are performed in R.

The dsRNA treatment did not seem to have a major effect on the fungus growth or emitted cGFP values. It is to be noted however, that the PDA and mineral medium used for the trial contained a large amount and variety of nutrients. In a real-life infection scenario, the available nutrients on the maize plant would be rather limited until the fungus manages to enter the plant tissues. For this reason, the 6-well plate trial was repeated as before but some extra plates were added containing different media. In the case of *F. verticillioides*, four PDA plates were used for each treatment as before. In addition, four treatment plates were added with ten times diluted PDA medium and four with a medium containing poor nutrient agar and tap water, giving a total of twelve plates (Supplement II). The set-up for *F. graminearum* was similar, only here the first four plates are the normal mineral medium, the next series a ten times dilution of this mineral medium and the last ones the same tap water based medium as used for *F. verticillioides*. For both *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides* it was evident that the fungus had more difficulties when growing on the poorer nutrient media. Both the surface area covered as the density of the mycelium showed a reduction when comparing to the ten times diluted media to the undiluted ones and the water based medium to the others.

In contradiction to the first time when the trial was conducted, no significant difference in covered fungal area could be found between the *F. verticillioides* treatments compared to the control on normal PDA medium (Fig. 16 A). The samples grown on ten times diluted PDA however did show a significant difference between the daily applied *chs3b* and the control on the second day of trial (Fig. 16 B, Dunnett's test p < 0.05). From day three onwards, this effect was no longer noticeable. The same goes for the water based medium where both the daily application treatment and application at the start of the trial differed from the control on the second trial day, but did not show the same result later on (Fig. 16 C).





Figure 16: graphical representation of the area covered on 6 wellplate during 4 days of trial according to treatment by Fusarium verticillioides starting from 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 x 10<sup>7</sup> conidia/mL) on A) PDA medium B) 10X diluted PDA medium and C) H2O medium. C = control with conidia suspension and water (5  $\mu$ L), DC = control with daily application of water (5  $\mu$ L), T5 = conidia suspension with chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L, 100 ng/ $\mu$ L) and T5D = chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L) applied daily. Statistical analyses based on ANOVA test and Dunnett's test, all statistical analyses are performed in R. For the *F. graminearum* assays, the set-up was constructed for *chs3b* dsRNA treatment on the one hand and *eGFP* dsRNA treatment on the other. A significant difference between the daily applicated *chs3b* dsRNA plate fungal area and the control was noticeable on the second trial day when *F. graminearum* was grown on normal mineral medium (Fig. 17 A, Dunnett's test p < 0.05). When the medium was a ten times dilution, both the daily dsRNA application and application at the start resulted in a significantly smaller area coverage by the fungus in comparison to the control. Also, the daily water control showed a slight reduction in covered surface area when compared in the same way (Fig. 17 B). During the three days of trial on water medium, no difference in covered surface area compared to the control was present for any of the treatments (Fig. 17 C).

The same experimental set-up was created for the combination of *F. graminearum* and *eGFP* dsRNA. The background noise cGFP signal was different for each of the three used media. After three days of trial, there was no significant difference in cGFP signal emitted by the fungus in the treated samples compared to the control for either the normal mineral medium or the ten times diluted version (Fig. 18 A and B). Only in the samples grown on water based medium, a difference between the daily control and daily dsRNA application compared to the control was witnessed on the last day of trial (Fig. 18 C). Nevertheless, it needs to be noted that the growth of the fungus on the water based medium was rather limited and therefore it is no surprise that the corresponding cGFP values for this medium type are very low throughout the trial.

The effects of dsRNA treatment on the two *Fusarium* species are rather moderate to nonexistent, both on microscopic scale as on 6-well plate set-up. This leads to the question whether the interaction of the plant RNAi machinery with the fungus is necessary during infection to succeed in successful silencing of the gene of interest. The following detached-leaf assays conducted in this study were created to elaborate further on this possibility.



0 00 10 10

Treatment

0 00 x0 x0

2.5

0.0

C

5° 15 18



Figure 17: graphical representation of the daily area covered on 6 well-plate during 3 days of trial according to treatment by Fusarium graminearum starting from 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 x 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL) on A) mineral medium B) 10X diluted mineral medium and C) H2O medium. C = control with conidia suspension and water (5  $\mu$ L), DC = control with daily application of water (5  $\mu$ L), T5 = conidia suspension with chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L, 100ng/ $\mu$ L) and T5D = chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L) applied daily. Statistical analyses based on ANOVA test and Dunnett's test, all statistical analyses are performed in R.







Figure 18: graphical representation of the cGFP signal detected daily during three days of trial of Fusarium graminearum on 6 well-plate starting from 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension (1 x 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL) on A) mineral medium B) 10X diluted mineral medium and C) H2O medium. C = control with conidia suspension and water (5  $\mu$ L), DC = control with daily application of water (5  $\mu$ L), T5 = conidia suspension with chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L, 100 ng/ $\mu$ L) and T5D = chs3b dsRNA treatment (5  $\mu$ L) statistical analyses based on ANOVA test and Dunnett's test, all statistical analyses are performed in R.

#### 4.2.2 Effect of dsRNA on fumonisin production

After the completion of the *in-vitro* trial, fumonisin production by *F. verticillioides* was investigated. For the three media types used, three samples were taken at the end of the experiment from the daily control and daily *Chs3b* dsRNA application plate. After sample clean-up and preparation they were analyzed by LC-MS/MS. With the used method, FB1, FB2 and FB3 concentrations could be quantified. No fumonisins were detected in the samples grown on the water based medium.

The samples grown on normal PDA medium showed the fastest fungal growth and mycelium density. In line with this observation, the highest fumonisin concentrations where witnessed in the samples grown on this medium. The FB1 concentration ranged from approximately 4000 to 6500  $\mu$ g/kg and there was a visually smaller amount of this component present in the samples treated with *Chs3b* dsRNA (Fig. 19 A). However, statistical analysis did not show a significant difference between the two groups (p = 0.063). The same effect was seen in FB2 and FB3 concentrations, ranging respectively from around 800 to 1400  $\mu$ g/kg and 230 to 400  $\mu$ g/kg (Fig. 19 B and C). For both components there was a visually lower concentration present in the dsRNA treated samples but this difference was not statistically significant (p = 0.243 and p = 0.299 respectively).



Figure 19: fumonisin B1 (A), B2 (B) and B3 (C) concentration in daily control and daily Chs3b dsRNA application samples (three for each) from the 6-well in-vitro trial growing on normal PDA medium. Statistical analyses based on two-sample t-test for normally distributed data, all statistical analyses are performed in R. DC = daily control, T5D = daily Chs3b dsRNA treatment.

For the *F. verticillioides* samples grown on ten times diluted PDA, the fumonisin concentrations were overall lower in comparison to the ones grown on normal PDA. They fell in the range of 600 to 750  $\mu$ g/kg, 500 to 650  $\mu$ g/kg and 55 to 80  $\mu$ g/kg for FB1, FB2 and FB3 respectively (Fig. 20 A, B and C). This was not unexpected, since the fungi had a harder time growing on this diluted medium. Again, there was a visually lower fumonisin concentration in the dsRNA treated samples for each of the three components that were measured. However, the differentiation is more subtle in comparison to the samples grown on normal PDA and again there is no significant statistical difference (p = 0.242, p = 0.594 and p = 0.695 respectively).



Figure 20: fumonisin B1 (A), B2 (B) and B3 (C) concentration in daily control and daily chs3b dsRNA application samples (three for each) from the 6-well in-vitro trial growing on 10 times diluted PDA medium. Statistical analyses based on two-sample t-test for normally distributed data, all statistical analyses are performed in R. DC = daily control, T5D = daily Chs3b dsRNA treatment.

### 4.3 Infection of seedlings

In order to get a better understanding of the infection process of *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides* in young maize plants, an infection trial was established. Maize seeds were inoculated in conidia suspensions for two hours after which the seedlings were allowed to grow for 16 days. The control group were seeds inoculated in sterile water. The infected plants visually looked shorter than the control group, this difference was more pronounced for the plants infected with *F. graminearum* (Fig. 21). Moreover, the roots of infected plants were shorter and less dense.

After harvesting, measurements were taken of the leaf length, root length, dry leaves biomass and dry root biomass (Fig. 22). There is a significant difference in the length and mass of the leaves between the plants infected with *F. graminearum* in comparison with the control and *F. verticillioides* infected seedlings (Tukey test p < 0.05). Plants infected with *F. verticillioides* were also visually shorter but the difference with the control is not significant. The roots on the other hand, showed similar differences in dry biomass of the plants infected with the two fungi in comparison to the control (Dunn's test p < 0.05). The root length showed a more modest divergence from the control group. In this case the difference compared to the control group is not significant for either of the fungal infections.



Figure 21: 16 days old maize plants grown from seedlings infected with Fusarium verticillioides, Fusarium graminearum or uninfected seeds (top). On the bottom are close-ups of the roots belonging to the full grown plants above.



Figure 22: graphical representation of the leaf length, root length, dry leaves biomass and dry root biomass of the plants according to their treatment. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data (leaf length and biomass) or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed (root length and biomass). All statistical analyses are performed in R. FV = Fusarium verticillioides treatment FG = Fusarium graminearum treatment.

### 4.4 Detached leaf assay – infection trial

In the following infection trials, the focus lied on the infection of maize leaves. In order to establish the right protocol for the upcoming experiments with dsRNA, a detached leaf assay was created for both *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum*. Six leaves (the first leaves on the plant) were put on a plate filled with plant agar and inoculated by a 10  $\mu$ L droplet of either *F. verticillioides* (5 x 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL), *F. graminearum* (0.5 x 10<sup>6</sup> conidia/mL) or sterile water (control). In parallel, the experiment ran according to the same protocol with wounded leaves. Pictures were taken every 24h with the Wiwam automated phenotyping robot. The results of the trial are shown in Figure 23. The Fv/Fm value is an indicator of plant stress. It's a parameter measuring chlorophyll fluorescence, where lower values correspond with more stress. The chlorophyll index on the other hand quantifies the total chlorophyll content of the leaves. The higher this value is, the more chlorophyll is present in the leaf. At last, the necrosis area is calculated as the total amount of pixels in Fv/Fm class I, which means that they are no longer recognized as living tissue by the Cropreporter software. In order to obtain this data, a region of interest was set around the leaves of which the necrosis area had to be calculated.

During the five days of the unwounded leaf assay, the data did not show signs of a severe infection of *F. graminearum* nor *F. verticillioides*. Only at 4 dai, the Fv/Fm value was significantly lower for both fungal infections compared to the control (Fig. 23, A). At 5 dai however, this difference was not present anymore. As a result, the necrosis area also did not show a significant increase for *F. graminearum* or *F. verticillioides* during the 5 trial days (Fig. 23, B). The values of the chlorophyll index were similar for the control and leaves infected with *F. verticillioides*, however, *F. graminearum* infected leaves had a significantly higher chlorophyll index which was unexpected (Fig. 23, C).

The assay with wounded leaves showed a clearer picture of the infection process of both fungal species. The Fv/Fm values of the infected leaves decreased during the 5 days of trial where in the end *F. graminearum* caused more severe damage to the leaves. *F. verticillioides* infection also significantly decreased the Fv/Fm values of the leaves but to a lesser extent (Fig. 23, D). The same pattern was witnessed for the necrosis area values. Here, it is again *F. graminearum* that causes a significantly larger necrotic area on the leaves compared to *F. verticillioides* and the control. As before, *F. verticillioides* infected leaves also showed a larger necrotic area compared to the control at 5 dai but in a lesser extent than *F. graminearum* (Fig. 23, E). At last, the chlorophyll index changed in line with these observations. It is again *F. graminearum* infection that caused the biggest difference in chlorophyll index. *F. verticillioides* infection also reduced the chlorophyll index of the leaves but in a more moderate way (Fig. 23, F).

The data from the infection trials showed that *F. graminearum* is a more virulent pathogen than *F. verticillioides* when used in maize detached leaf assays. In addition, it became evident that the best way to create clear infection symptoms with these pathogens, in a short time range, is by use of wounded leaves. Thus, wounded leaves were used for the following detached leaf assays involving *F. graminearum* and *F. verticillioides*.



Figure 23: graphical representation of Fv/Fm value, chlorophyll index and necrosis area of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of Fusarium graminearum ( $0.5 \times 10^6$  conidia/mL) or Fusarium verticillioides ( $0.5 \times 10^7$  conidia/mL) for 5 days. Either unwounded (A, B and C) or wounded leaves (D, E and F) were used. Pictures underneath the figures are added as visual representation of Fv/Fm value. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed. All statistical analyses are performed in R. FV = F. verticillioides treatment, FG = F. graminearum treatment and C = control treatment with sterilized water.

### 4.5 Detached leaf assay - chs3b and eGFP dsRNA

DsRNA was created for the chitin synthase 3b gene (chs3b) of F. verticillioides and F. graminearum along with dsRNA designed to target the eGFP gene which is incorporated in the F. graminearum strain. In the first detached leaf trial, the plates always consisted of five leaves placed on plant agar (Supplement III). The third leaf of the young maize plants was used in order to increase the consistency in leaf size and shape compared to the infection trials, where the first leaf was used. The negative control consisted of 10 µL sterile water only. For F. verticillioides, two plates were made where the first one was the positive control to which 5 µL conidia suspension and 5 µL sterile water was added. The second F. verticillioides plate's leaves were inoculated with 5  $\mu$ L conidia suspension and 5  $\mu$ L *chs3b* dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L). For F. graminearum, the same plates were prepared and an extra plate was added with 5 µL conidia suspension and 5 µL eGFP dsRNA. In addition, an extra control plate with F. verticillioides conidia and eGFP dsRNA was added together with two control leaves containing only the two chs3b dsRNAs without conidia. The purpose was to see if the non F. verticillioides eGFP dsRNA would cause an effect on the F. verticillioides infection or the dsRNA on its own would result in a different effect on the leaves compared to the water control. This was not the case for any of the two extra controls.

The data of the *F. verticillioides* detached leaf assay are shown in Figure 24. The Fv/Fm values showed some inconsistencies in the negative control data, which seemed to fluctuate, especially at 3 dai. For the infected and treated leaves, the Fv/Fm measurement decreased during the trial and resulted in a lower value compared to the control group at 5dai (Fig. 24, A). However, no significant difference between the two treatments was observed. The chlorophyll index also showed inconsistencies in the negative control and (apart from 3dai) there is no significant difference between the negative control, positive control and treated leaves (Fig. 24, C). At last, the necrosis area data looked more cohesive (Fig. 24, B). Although there was no significant difference between the negative control, positive control and dsRNA treated leaves, it did seem that the treated leaves showed less severe necrosis symptoms compared to the positive control.





Figure 24: graphical representation of Fv/Fm value (A), necrosis area (B) and chlorophyll index (C) of detached leaf assays (5 days) performed with conidia of Fusarium verticillioides  $(1 \times 10^7 \text{ conidia/mL})$  and sterilized water (P), F. verticillioides conidia and chs3b dsRNA (chs3b, 100 ng/µL) and sterilized water only (N). Pictures underneath the figures are added as visual representation of Fv/Fm value. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed (\*). All statistical analyses are performed in R.

The results of the detached leaf assay with *F. graminearum* infection are shown in Figure 25. Although the negative controls' Fv/Fm values looked inconsistent at 3dai (as was also the case for the F. verticillioides treatment), the positive control and dsRNA treated leaves overall had Fv/Fm values lower than the negative control (Fig. 25, A). However, no significant difference between the positive control and dsRNA treated leaves was present. The same kind of inconsistency is present in the chlorophyll index data at 3 dai, but overall no significant difference between the three treatments was found concerning this parameter (Fig. 25, C). This was not the case for the necrosis area data where the negative control proved consistent over the course of the trial. The positive control and dsRNA treated leaves showed a significantly higher necrosis area but there was no difference between the two (Fig. 25, B). At last, the F. graminearum infected leaves were also used for a treatment with eGFP dsRNA. The corrected GFP value (cGFP) is used to analyze the GFP signal emitted from the fungal pathogen and a value around 200 is realistic as background noise here. Since it is expected for the cGFP signal to go up when the fungus is growing, the data obtained from this treatment did not look the way that was predicted (Fig. 25, D). The inconsistency in the cGFP data was most likely caused by the plates not being in the dark long enough before taking pictures. Thus, in the next detached leaf assays the plates were always stored in the dark at least half an hour before taking pictures.

In general, it did not seem like the dsRNA treatment was successful for neither the established infection of *F. graminearum* nor *F. verticillioides*. In addition, the leaves had a more noticeable pinkish color during this trial compared to the earlier detached leaf infection trial. The plates were stored next to a room that was heavily lit by bright growing lights and separated by a glass wall. It is likely that the bright light had an effect on the assay and that the pinkish color was caused by anthocyanin production in the leaves. Thus, in the next trials the plates were stored in an environment similar to the initial infection trials.





Figure 25: graphical representation of Fv/Fm value (A), necrosis area (B), chlorophyll index (C) and eGFP values (D) of detached leaf assays (5 days) performed with conidia of Fusarium graminearum and sterilized water (P), F. graminearum conidia and chs3b dsRNA (chs3b) or eGFP dsRNA (eGFP) and sterilized water only (N). Pictures underneath the figures are added as visual representation of Fv/Fm value. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed (\*). All statistical analyses are performed in *R*.

In order to increase the reliability of the data, the detached leaf experiment with dsRNA treatment was repeated. The problems faced in the previous trial (surrounding light and placement in the dark half an hour before taking pictures) were taken into account and it was also opted to use the first leaves of the maize plant again. The first leaves had a more inconsistent shape compared to the very straight third leaves but made it easier to inoculate and visualize the infection symptoms. It seemed that the incorporated measures were successful and led to a more consistent negative control group and treatment data (Fig. 25 and 26).

The Fv/Fm values in the samples with *F. verticillioides* infection decreased gradually over the course of the assay (Fig. 26 A). From the third day of trial onwards, the positive control and *chs3b* dsRNA treated groups' Fv/Fm values diverged from the control group. Nonetheless, there was no significant difference between these two groups at the end of the trial. The same effect was observed in the chlorophyll index and necrosis area data (Fig. 26 B and C). Here again, no significant difference between the positive control and dsRNA treated samples was present at the end of the trial. However, visually it did seem like there was a slight difference between the Fv/Fm and necrosis area values of the two, where the dsRNA treated group had a positive effect on necrosis area and Fv/Fm.





Figure 26: graphical representation of Fv/Fm value (A), necrosis area (B) and chlorophyll index (C) of detached leaf assays (5 days) performed with conidia of Fusarium verticillioides and sterilized water (P), F. verticillioides conidia and chs3b dsRNA (chs3b) and sterilized water only (N). Pictures underneath the figures are added as visual representation of Fv/Fm value. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed (\*). All statistical analyses are performed in R.

At last, the *F. graminearum* data were examined. The Fv/Fm values of the positive control and the *chs3b* dsRNA treated group started differing from the negative control around three days after the start of the trial (Fig. 27 A). Nevertheless, no significant difference between the values of these groups was witnessed at the end. The necrosis area followed a similar pattern and again, the positive control and dsRNA treated samples showed no divergence from each other (Fig. 27 B). A difference between the chlorophyll index of the two treatment groups and the negative control became only evident after 4 dai. In the end however, there was again no significant difference between these two groups and the control (Fig. 27 C). Finally, the cGFP values of the three groups were similar until 5 dai. The *eGFP* dsRNA treated group had a slightly higher overall cGFP value at this day, which is unexpected since the *eGFP* signal should have been blocked in this group (Fig. 27 D).

Overall, the conducted microscopic, *in-vitro* and detached leaf trials all showed moderate to insignificant effects of the dsRNA treatment.





Figure 27: graphical representation of FvFm value (A), necrosis area (B), chlorophyll index (C) and eGFP values (D) of detached leaf assays performed with conidia of Fusarium graminearum and sterilized water (P), F. graminearum conidia and chs3b dsRNA (chs3b) or eGFP dsRNA (eGFP) and sterilized water only (N). Pictures underneath the figures are added as visual representation of Fv/Fm value. Grouping of the data is based on an ANOVA and Tukey test for normally distributed data or a Kruskal-Wallis and Dunn's test when the data was not normally distributed (\*). All statistical analyses are performed in R.

# 5. Discussion

## 5.1 Result analysis

In this study, the effect of externally applied *Chs3b* dsRNA treatment on *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* was investigated. *F. graminearum* was used in this investigation as a control species because of its previous success in SIGS trials and the GFP tagged nature of the strain. The dsRNA was tested on three levels by microscopic, *in-vitro* 6-well and detached leaf assays. This allowed for a thorough screening of the pathogen and its susceptibility to RNAi mediated gene silencing by external application.

During the microscopic experiments, no significant effects were observed of the *Chs3b* dsRNA (100 ng/ $\mu$ L) treatment on the germination length of *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* conidia. However, the treated *F. graminearum* conidia did seem to have a higher number of side branches and a bit shorter length compared to the control group. This effect of developing more side branches had previously been witnessed in the lab when the conidia were put under stress during germination. In addition, *F. graminearum* conidia were treated with *eGFP* dsRNA. No visual effect of the dsRNA on the fluorescence of the conidia were also investigated on a higher magnification, but no indication of disturbed cell walls or mycelium was observed. To summarize, it might be possible that the difference in number of side branches during germination was due to a stress reaction caused by treatment with *Chs3b* dsRNA. Overall, the treatment did not have an effect on germinated spore length or cell wall structure when applied to *F. verticillioides* or *F. graminearum*.

The timeframe from spore suspension application to germination is quite short (less than 24h). In order for the dsRNA to work, it needs to have enough time to be transported into the cells, modified to siRNAs and act on the target sequences for gene silencing. Thus, in-vitro 6-well trials were used in order to observe the effect of dsRNA treatment on larger scale and timeframe. The first conducted assay only showed very moderate results of the Chs3b and eGFP dsRNA treatments. Small differences in fungal area coverage between the control and Chs3b dsRNA treatment were sometimes seen around the second day of trial but overall these effects were not noticeable anymore at the end of the assay. In real-life scenarios, the pathogens grow in a poor nutrient environment during the infection process of maize leaves until the fungus manages to get into the plant tissues. For this reason, the second *in-vitro* trial tested three different media types for each fungal species with a varying degree of available nutrients. There was overall no real difference between the media type used and fungal area coverage after dsRNA treatment in comparison with the control. However, again at around two days after the start of the trial some small differences in fungal area between the control and Chs3b treated samples were observed. The eGFP dsRNA application did not seem to have an effect on the emitted fluorescence of *F. graminearum* in any of the two *in-vitro* trials.

The microscopic trials showed that the fungi possibly underwent a stress reaction after application of *Chs3b* dsRNA but no visual effect on fungal growth was seen in the *in-vitro* trials. Consequently, a mycotoxin analysis was conducted to find out whether the dsRNA might have

some effect on mycotoxin production. Three samples from the daily control plate and daily application plate of *F. verticillioides* (second *in-vitro* trial) were collected for each of the three media. After cleaning-up they were analyzed with LC-MS/MS for the three main fumonisins: FB1, FB2 and FB3. Despite no statistical significance, the *Chs3b* dsRNA treated samples grown on normal PDA did show a visual reduction in the three fumonisin levels. Thus, it seemed that the treatment with *Chs3b* dsRNA had a small effect on the fumonisin synthesis. This was also the case for the samples grown on the ten times diluted PDA, although the visual difference was more subtle. The overall mycotoxin production was lower on the diluted medium, which was not surprising since the fungal area coverage and mycelium density were also lower in this case. The samples grown on the water based agar medium did not contain fumonisins in a concentration that was detectable. This was not unsuspected, as the fungal growth on this medium type was very slow and the resulting mycelium was not very dense.

Although subtle, there seemed to be a small effect of the applied *Chs3b* dsRNA. It needs to be taken into account that not only the fungus itself is responsible for the processing of the dsRNA. The maize plant is also able to take up the externally applied dsRNA and process it with its own RNAi machinery (Knip *et al*, 2014; Han & Luan, 2015). Consequently, the produced siRNAs can be transported to the fungi by means of extracellular vesicles. In normal infection situations, plants often use this kind of method as a host-defense mechanism (Tinoco *et al*, 2010b; Nowara *et al*, 2010). Thus, it was opted to add another experimental trial to this investigation. With detached maize leaves, the fungal infection process with and without dsRNA treatment was explored. Thereby, more information was gained about the possible necessity of the maize plant processing of the externally applied dsRNA in the effectiveness of the dsRNA fungal treatment.

First of all, an infection trial was created in order to gain a better understanding of the infection process of *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* on maize leaves. Afterwards, wounded maize leaves were treated with either a water control, conidia suspension or conidia suspension treated with dsRNA (*Chs3b* for *F. verticillioides* and *Chs3b* and *eGFP* for *F. graminearum*). After analysis of the data, no difference was observed in any of the two detached leaf trials for the *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum* Fv/Fm values, necrosis area, chlorophyll index or cGFP signal. Thus, it seems that in this case the addition of the host plant system to the trials did not result in a better uptake or effect of the dsRNA in the fungal pathogen.

### 5.2 Target gene selection

The dsRNA designed to influence the expression of the *Chs3b* target gene did not cause the fungal growth and virulence decline we were expecting in the target species. Thus, the first thing that came to mind when reevaluating this investigation was whether this was a good target gene to begin with. The previous study of Cheng et al. (2015) identified the *F. graminearum Chs3b* gene as the *Chs* gene with the highest expression level throughout the colonization of wheat by this fungus. Besides, their work performed with the HIGS method showed that *Chs3b* was essential for fungal growth and survival. This study however, was focused on SIGS, which may mean that this method was perhaps not powerful enough to silence a profound amount of the present *Chs3b* genes to cause a real noticeable difference

in chitin synthesis and growth. Besides, the chitin synthases are a complex gene family and there is currently no guarantee that *Chs3b* plays an equally vital role in the development of the cell wall in *F. verticillioides* as it does in *F. graminearum*. It may very well be that in this species other chitin synthase gene(s) play a more crucial role in the synthesis of the chitin components. In addition, the interplay of the chitin synthase enzymes and their specific functions are not fully understood yet and can be very species specific. In this study, *F. graminearum* PH-1 was used and it may even be possible that a different strain can cause some differences in target gene expression. Furthermore, multiple chitin synthases can often be found at the same location in the fungal cells. This suggest that either there is a need for the enzymes to form multiunit complexes or genetic redundancy is present (Riquelme & Bartnicki-García, 2008). Hence, it is certainly possible that the down-regulation of *Chs3b* may cause a higher expression of other *Chs* family genes as a form of feedback regulation mechanism compensation (Cheng *et al*, 2015).

In this investigation, not only *Chs3b* treatment was investigated but also *eGFP* dsRNA was added to the *F. graminearum* strain following the same protocols. Thus, the *eGFP* dsRNA was a control for the choice of target gene. If the cGFP signal would have decreased but no effect was seen of the *Chs3b* treatment, this would indicate that the target gene was not efficient enough in blocking the fungal growth and virulence. However, no clear effect of the *eGFP* treatment was observed in this study. This indicates that the problem in the first place probably lies elsewhere in the application method.

### 5.3 DsRNA delivery method

In previous studies, *F. graminearum* was already the target of SIGS methods. The work of Koch et al. (2016) showed that the fungus can be successfully inhibited by SIGS application targeting cytochrome P450 lanosterol C-14 $\alpha$ -demethylases. Later, Werner et al. (2020) targeted RNAi machinery genes of *F. graminearum* with SIGS and found that especially *DICER* genes were good targets for fungal inhibition. Thus, in this study we expected *F. graminearum* to be susceptible to the externally applied dsRNA. However, it needs to be noted that the previous investigations added the dsRNA onto the leaves by means of a spray application. This was not possible in this study given the high cost of dsRNA synthesis. The obtained volumes were not large enough to be able to spray the dsRNA onto the leaves and instead a more volume-friendly droplet application was chosen. Of course, it is possible that the droplet form is not as effective as the more widespread spray application of the entire leaf area.

Thus far, there is no evidence to state that fungi have a preference for the uptake of either long or short dsRNA molecules (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). In a study by Kogel (2021), fluorescent dsRNA with a length of 21 bp, 420 bp or 1451 bp was added to *Verticillium longisporum* conidia. Uptake of the dsRNA was successful for all of these used lengths. The same results were witnessed when the application was repeated on *Serendipita indica*. In addition, instead of applying long dsRNA that still requires processing, it is also possible to apply the desired siRNAs straight away. For example, *Botrytis cinerea* is capable of taking up both long dsRNAs and siRNAs targeting Dicer-like genes and both applications were successful in inhibiting the fungal growth on fruits, vegetables and flowers (Wang *et al*, 2016). These findings are different

from what can be witnessed when using insects as target organisms. Here, uptake is only achieved when dsRNAs longer than 50 bp are used and siRNA application is not successful (Ivashuta *et al*, 2015). It would be interesting to investigate whether the application of siRNA *Chs3b* instead of long dsRNA would make a difference in the successful silencing of the gene in our study organisms and set-up.

Furthermore, the concentration of the applied dsRNA may also play a crucial role in SIGS. There is no golden rule about which concentration works best since this is again very species and target specific. Currently, application dose is determined by trial an error. The previously described successful studies with SIGS on *F. graminearum* used concentrations on the leaves of 20 ng/µL dsRNA (Koch *et al*, 2016; Werner *et al*, 2020). Another study with *Slerotinia sclerotiorum* used 20 or 80 ng/µL on the surface of *Brassica* leaves and petals and 40 ng/µL when *B. cinerea* was applied to the *B. napus* (McLoughlin *et al*, 2018). Based on these previous studies, 100 ng/µL was applied in this investigation to have an abundance of dsRNA available for the fungus and plant and to try to compensate for the local nature of droplet application. Of course, it is possible that this concentration was not ideal and that a higher, or even lower, amount of dsRNA would have had a more beneficial effect on the treatment results.

At last, degradation of the dsRNA after application is an important factor to keep in mind. It has been estimated that after spraying onto the leaves, the dsRNA might actively work for five to seven days (Gan *et al*, 2010). A new innovation that addresses this problem is the use of nanosheets. DsRNA is loaded onto the double hydroxide clay nanosheets and subsequently sprayed onto the leaves, which in tests made the dsRNA active for up to twenty days post application (Mitter *et al*, 2017). Furthermore, cationic nanoparticles and peptide-based RNA delivery systems are also being investigated for this purpose (Numata *et al*, 2014; Jiang *et al*, 2014; Dubrovina & Kiselev, 2019). At last, it might be useful to improve the adhesion of the dsRNA onto the leaves. The surfactant Silwett L-77 has often been used in SIGS studies for this purpose (McLoughlin *et al*, 2018). It might be interesting to test whether the use of Silwett L-77 or clay nanosheets increases the effectiveness of the *Chs3b* treatment investigated in this study.

### 5.4 Host plant interaction

DsRNA molecules can move between different organisms of different species and can be processed by the RNAi machinery of both. It is believed that vesicles play an important role in the transport of the RNA molecules but also membrane transporters, receptors and passive diffusion are possible ways in which this process may occur (Majumdar *et al*, 2017). Hence, it might be crucial to have a host plant system present in the infection experiments to process the applied RNA molecules and to transfer them to the fungal pathogen. For this reason, many SIGS studies already apply the dsRNA onto the detached leaves or plants a couple of days before the actual infection with fungal pathogens (Koch *et al*, 2016; McLoughlin *et al*, 2018; Werner *et al*, 2020). In this investigation, the dsRNA treatment was always added at the beginning of the trial or daily. Perhaps, this timeframe was not ideal for this specific host plant and pathogen interaction and maybe the results would have been better if the dsRNA was already applied beforehand.

As already mentioned, uptake of dsRNA or siRNA differs between different types of organisms. In fungi, the uptake of the dsRNA does not happen evenly along the hyphae. In a study by Wytinck et al. (2020) in *S. sclerotiorum*, it was observed that the uptake happens mostly at the tip of actively growing hyphal branches. In addition, they also investigated the role of clathrin-mediated endocytosis, which is often used by insects to facilitate dsRNA uptake. Knock-down in *S. sclerotiorum* of genes related to this mechanism made it impossible for the dsRNA to enter the fungal cells. Thus, in this species clathrin-mediated endocytosis plays an essential role in the uptake of externally applied dsRNA or siRNA. It is suggested that afterwards the dsRNAs are incorporated into vesicles and subsequently released into the cell. Nevertheless, this does not necessarily mean that the same mechanisms are responsible for dsRNA uptake in other fungal species. More information regarding this topic is still needed and would be very helpful in the future design process of RNAi mediated fungal pest control.

### 5.5 Future prospects

This study attempted to address the effectiveness of Chs3b dsRNA application against Fusarium on three different levels. Nevertheless, a great amount of other approaches is yet to be explored. First of all, it would be a good idea to set-up trials in which the dsRNA is applied onto the leaves a couple of days before infection. In addition, the application method itself can also be further finetuned by exploring different media and concentrations. Especially the use of Silwett L-77, clay nanosheets or other carriers is a very promising new way of addressing the dsRNA onto the host plant and delaying degradation as much as possible. Furthermore, the dsRNA in this study was designed to target only one fungal gene. It is however possible to create a longer dsRNA molecule that targets multiple related or unrelated genes. Since it is still uncertain whether the silencing of Chs3b is compensated by other genes of the chitin synthase family, it might be beneficial to design a dsRNA molecule that also targets different chitin synthase genes. Besides, it is also optional to apply siRNAs onto the pathogen or detached leaves instead of the long dsRNA. At last, it is very advisable to include real-time PCR (qPCR) investigations in future work regarding this topic. The dsRNA application in this investigation only resulted in very subtle and non-significant differences between control and treatment. Thus, qPCR expression data could clarify whether no gene silencing was present at all or whether gene silencing was present but only on a level that was too low to visually see a difference in growth or virulence.

# 6. Conclusion

DsRNA was created for the chitin synthase 3b gene (*chs3b*) of *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum*, along with dsRNA designed to target the *eGFP* gene incorporated into the *F. graminearum* strain. Reproducible protocols were established de-novo to investigate the effect of the externally applied dsRNA on *F. verticillioides*. The methods were based on microscopic investigation, *in-vitro* application and detached leaf assay. On microscopic scale, treatment with *Chs3b* or *eGFP* dsRNA did not result in noticeable differences in length of germinated conidia or integrity of the cell wall. However, it was interesting to observe that the *F. graminearum* conidia treated with *Chs3b* grew more and shorter side branches, a symptom that had previously been witnessed to be a fungal stress reaction. The *in-vitro* trials showed very moderate to non-significant changes in fungal area coverage and emitted fluorescence. Yet, when the mycotoxins levels of dsRNA treated *F. verticillioides* samples were compared to the control, a small decline in fumonisin concentration was observed. At last, the following detached leaf trials did again only show very subtle to no effects of the applied dsRNA treatments.

It was unexpected to see so little effect of the *Chs3b* treatment on the fungal growth, especially since this gene had been previously found to be of vital importance to *F. graminearum*. Nevertheless, a slight reduction in fumonisin expression of dsRNA treated *F. verticillioides* samples was witnessed. This may indicate that the dsRNA possibly affects the pathogen but in a way that is too subtle for visual constatation. In this case, qPCR results would be very helpful to distinguish between either no gene silencing at all or gene silencing at a level that is too low for successful fungal inhibition.

Many reasons can lie on the basis of the ineffective nature of the applied *Chs3b* dsRNA. The *eGFP* dsRNA control used on *F. graminearum* in parallel with the *Chs3b* experiments did also not result in an observable effect. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that the problem lies in the dsRNA application method rather than the selection of target gene. In future trials, it would be recommended to experiment with some other application methods and aim for an implementation of recent innovations that have been made in this field. Of course, this does not mean that it is a bad idea to also try different *Chs3b* related or unrelated targets. It would be very interesting to focus on the fumonisin synthesis genes as well in order to reduce the pathogenicity of the fungus. Besides, it is worth trying to apply siRNAs instead of long dsRNA onto the pathogens and leaves, as this might have an effect on successful gene silencing as well.

In short, solid and reproducible protocols were established to investigate the effectiveness of dsRNA treatment on *F. verticillioides* and *F. graminearum*. Many questions regarding this mechanism and application method remain unanswered and there are countless options left to be explored. Hence, this study opens the way for future research to experiment further on the established protocols and to find solutions for the encountered restrictions and difficulties.

# 7. References

Abbas HK, Shier WT, Seo JA, Lee YW & Musser SM (1998) Phytotoxicity and cytotoxicity of the fumonisin C and P series of mycotoxins from *Fusarium* spp. fungi. *Toxicon* **36**: 2033–2037

AgroSpheres (2020) AgroSpheres. Available at: https://agrospheres.com/

- Albright VC, Wong CR, Hellmich RL & Coats JR (2017) Dissipation of double-stranded RNA in aquatic microcosms. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **36:** 1249–1253
- Alexander NJ, Proctor RH & McCormick SP (2009) Genes, gene clusters, and biosynthesis of trichothecenes and fumonisins in *Fusarium*. *Toxin Rev.* **28**: 198–215
- Alvarez-Fernandez R, Lopez-Gomollon S, Lopez-Martinez F & Nicolas FE (2011) Bioengineering RNA silencing across the life kingdoms. *Recent Pat. Biotechnol.* 5: 118– 146
- de Andrade EC & Hunter WB (2016) RNA Interference Natural gene-based technology for highly specific pest control (HiSPeC). In *RNA Interference*
- Askun T (2018) Introductory Chapter: *Fusarium* Pathogenicity, infections, diseases, mycotoxins and management. In *Fusarium Plant Diseases, Pathogen Diversity, Genetic Diversity, Resistance and Molecular Markers* p 12.
- Babadoost M (2018) *Fusarium*: historical and continued importance. In *Fusarium Plant Diseases, Pathogen Diversity, Genetic Diversity, Resistance and Molecular Markers* p 22.
- Beatty M, Guduric-Fuchs J, Brown E, Bridgett S, Chakravarthy U, Hogg RE & Simpson DA (2014) Small RNAs from plants, bacteria and fungi within the order Hypocreales are ubiquitous in human plasma. *BMC Genomics* **15**: 1–12
- Bezuidenhout SC, Gelderblom WCA, Gorst-Allman CP, Horak RM, Marasas WFO, Spiteller G & Vleggaar R (1988) Structure elucidation of the fumonisins, mycotoxins from *Fusarium moniliforme. J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun.* **1730**: 743–745
- De Boevre M, Di Mavungu JD, Maene P, Audenaert K, Deforce D, Haesaert G, Eeckhout M, Callebaut A, Berthiller F, Van Peteghem C & De Saeger S (2012) Development and validation of an LC-MS/MS method for the simultaneous determination of deoxynivalenol, zearalenone, T-2-toxin and some masked metabolites in different cereals and cereal-derived food. *Food Addit. Contam. - Part A Chem. Anal. Control. Expo. Risk Assess.* 29: 819–835
- Bojja RS, Cerny RL, Proctor RH & Du L (2004) Determining the biosynthetic sequence in the early steps of the fumonisin pathway by use of tree gene-disruption mutants of *Fusarium verticillioides. J. Agric. Food Chem.* **52**: 2855–2860
- Borges F & Martienssen RA (2015) The expanding world of small RNAs in plants. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* **16:** 727–741
- Bottalico A, Logrieco A & Visconti A (1989) *Fusarium* species and their mycotoxins in Infected Cereals in the Field and in Stored Grains. *Fusarium*: 85–119
- Bottalico A & Perrone G (2002) Toxigenic *Fusarium* species and mycotoxins associated with head blight in small-grain cereals in Europe. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **108:** 611–624
- Bouché N, Lauressergues D, Gasciolli V & Vaucheret H (2006) An antagonistic function for *Arabidopsis* DCL2 in development and a new function for DCL4 in generating viral siRNAs. *EMBO J.* **25:** 3347–3356

- Burgess L & Bryden W (2012) *Fusarium*: a ubiquitous fungus of global significance. *Microbiol. Aust.* **33:** 22
- Bushati N & Cohen SM (2007) microRNA functions. Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 23: 175–205
- Calo S, Shertz-Wall C, Lee SC, Bastidas RJ, Nicolás FE, Granek JA, Mieczkowski P, Torres-Martínez S, Ruiz-Vázquez RM, Cardenas ME & Heitman J (2014) Antifungal drug resistance evoked via RNAi-dependent epimutations. *Nature* **513**: 555–558
- Chalfie M, Inouye S, Tsuji Frederick I, Tu Y, Euskirchen G, Ward William W & Prasher Douglas C (1994) Expression of the gene and fluorescence characteristics of the recombinant protein Green fluorescent protein as a marker for gene expression. *Fed. Eur. Biochem. Lett.* **341:** 277–280
- Chan SWL, Zilberman D, Xie Z, Johansen LK, Carrington JC & Jacobsen SE (2004) RNA silencing genes control de novo DNA methylation. *Science (80-. ).* **303:** 1336
- Chehri K, Jahromi ST, Reddy KRN, Abbasi S & Salleh B (2010) Occurrence of *Fusarium* spp. and fumonisins in stored wheat grains marketed in Iran. *Toxins (Basel).* **2**: 2816–2823
- Chen HM, Chen LT, Patel K, Li YH, Baulcombe DC & Wu SH (2010) 22-Nucleotide RNAs trigger secondary siRNA biogenesis in plants. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **107**: 15269–15274
- Chen W, Kastner C, Nowara D, Oliveira-Garcia E, Rutten T, Zhao Y, Deising HB, Kumlehn J & Schweizer P (2016) Host-induced silencing of *Fusarium culmorum* genes protects wheat from infection. *J. Exp. Bot.* **67:** 4979–4991
- Chen Y, Kistler HC & Ma Z (2019) *Fusarium graminearum* trichothecene mycotoxins: biosynthesis, regulation, and management. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **57:** 15–39
- Cheng W, Song XS, Li HP, Cao LH, Sun K, Qiu XL, Xu Y Bin, Yang P, Huang T, Zhang JB, Qu B & Liao YC (2015) Host-induced gene silencing of an essential chitin synthase gene confers durable resistance to Fusarium head blight and seedling blight in wheat. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **13:** 1335–1345
- Choi J, Kim KT, Jeon J, Wu J, Song H, Asiegbu FO & Lee YH (2014) FunRNA: A fungicentered genomics platform for genes encoding key components of RNAi. *BMC Genomics* **15**: 1–10
- Cogoni C & Macino G (1999) Gene silencing in *Neurospora crassa* requires a protein homologous to RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *Nature* **399**: 166–169
- Cormack BP, Valdivia RH & Falkow S (1996) FACS-optimized mutants of the green fluorescent protein (GFP). *Gene* **173:** 33–38
- Crop Protection Network (2020) Fusarium ear rot of corn. Available at: https://cropprotectionnetwork.org/resources/articles/diseases/fusarium-ear-rot-of-corn [Accessed November 6, 2020]
- Dalakouras A, Wassenegger M, Dadami E, Ganopoulos I, Pappas ML & Papadopoulou K (2020) Genetically modified organism-free RNA interference: Exogenous application of RNA molecules in plants. *Plant Physiol.* **182:** 38–50
- Dang Y, Yang Q, Xue Z & Liu Y (2011) RNA interference in fungi: Pathways, functions, and applications. *Eukaryot. Cell* **10**: 1148–1155
- Dang Y, Zhang Z & Liu Y (2014) Small RNA-mediated gene silencing in neurospora. In *Fungal RNA Biology* pp 269–290.

- Das PR & Sherif SM (2020) Application of exogenous dsRNAs-induced RNAi in Agriculture: Challenges and triumphs. *Front. Plant Sci.* **11:** 946
- Desjardins AE & Proctor RH (2007) Molecular biology of *Fusarium* mycotoxins. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **119:** 47–50
- Dou T, Shao X, Hu C, Liu S, Sheng O, Bi F, Deng G, Ding L, Li C, Dong T, Gao H, He W, Peng X, Zhang S, Huo H, Yang Q & Yi G (2020) Host-induced gene silencing of Foc TR4 ERG6/11 genes exhibits superior resistance to Fusarium wilt of banana. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **18:** 11–13
- Du L, Zhu X, Gerber R, Huffman J, Lou L, Jorgenson J, Yu F, Zaleta-Rivera K & Wang Q (2008) Biosynthesis of sphinganine-analog mycotoxins. *J. Ind. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* **35**: 455–464
- Dubelman S, Fischer J, Zapata F, Huizinga K, Jiang C, Uffman J, Levine S & Carson D (2014) Environmental fate of double-stranded RNA in agricultural soils. *PLoS One* **9:** 1– 7
- Dubrovina AS & Kiselev K V. (2019) Exogenous RNAs for gene regulation and plant resistance. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **20**: 2282
- Ediage EN, Di Mavungu JD, Monbaliu S, Van Peteghem C & De Saeger S (2011) A validated multianalyte LC-MS/MS method for quantification of 25 mycotoxins in cassava flour, peanut cake and maize samples. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **59**: 5173–5180
- Ekwomadu TI, Gopane RE & Mwanza M (2018) Occurrence of filamentous fungi in maize destined for human consumption in South Africa. *Food Sci. Nutr.* **6:** 884–890
- Fandohan P, Gnonlonfin B, Hell K, Marasas WFO & Wingfield MJ (2005) Natural occurrence of *Fusarium* and subsequent fumonisin contamination in preharvest and stored maize in Benin, West Africa. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **99:** 173–183
- Fire A, Xu S, Montgomery MK, Kostas SA, Driver SE & Mello CC (1998) Potent and specific genetic interference by double-stranded RNA in *caenorhabditis elegans*. *Nature* **391**: 806–811
- Fischer JR, Zapata F, Dubelman S, Mueller GM, Uffman JP, Jiang C, Jensen PD & Levine SL (2017) Aquatic fate of a double-stranded RNA in a sediment–water system following an over-water application. *Environ. Toxicol. Chem.* **36**: 727–734
- Franceschi S, Bidoli E, Baron AE & La Vecchia C (1990) Maize and risk of cancers of the oral cavity, pharynx, and esophagus in northeastern Italy. *J. Natl. Cancer Inst.* **82:** 1407–1411
- Gan D, Zhang J, Jiang H, Jiang T, Zhu S & Cheng B (2010) Bacterially expressed dsRNA protects maize against SCMV infection. *Plant Cell Rep.* **29:** 1261–1268
- Gardiner DM, Kazan K & Manners JM (2009) Nutrient profiling reveals potent inducers of trichothecene biosynthesis in *Fusarium graminearum*. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **46:** 604–613
- Gelderblom WCA, Cawood ME, Snyman SD & Marasas WFO (1994) Fumonisin B1 dosimetry in relation to cancer initiation in rat liver. *Carcinogenesis* **15**: 790
- Gelderblom WCA, Jaskiewicz K, Marasas WFO, Thiel PG, Horak RM, Vleggaar R & Kriek NPJ (1988) Fumonisins novel mycotoxins with cancer-promoting activity produced by *Fusarium moniliforme. Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **54**: 1806–1811
- Ghag SB, Shekhawat UKS & Ganapathi TR (2014) Host-induced post-transcriptional hairpin RNA-mediated gene silencing of vital fungal genes confers efficient resistance against *Fusarium* wilt in banana. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **12:** 541–553

- Gilbert J & Fernando WGD (2004) Epidemiology and biological control of *Gibberella zeae* /*Fusarium graminearum*. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **26**: 464–472
- Gomes LB, Ward TJ, Badiale-Furlong E & Del Ponte EM (2015) Species composition, toxigenic potential and pathogenicity of *Fusarium graminearum* species complex isolates from southern Brazilian rice. *Plant Pathol.* **64:** 980–987
- Góral T, Wiśniewska H, Ochodzki P, Nielsen LK, Walentyn-Góral D & Stępień Ł (2019) Relationship between fusarium head blight, kernel damage, concentration of *fusarium* biomass, and fusarium toxins in grain of winter wheat inoculated with *fusarium* culmorum. *Toxins (Basel).* **11:** 2
- Haag C, Steuten B & Feldbrügge M (2015) Membrane-coupled mRNA trafficking in fungi. Annu. Rev. Microbiol. 69: 265–281
- Han L & Luan YS (2015) Horizontal transfer of small RNAs to and from plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* **6:** 1–7
- Harris SD (2005) Morphogenesis in germinating *Fusarium graminearum* macroconidia . *Mycologia* **97:** 880–887
- Horvath P & Barrangou R (2010) CRISPR/Cas, the immune system of bacteria and archaea. *Science (80-. ).* **327:** 167–170
- Hsuan HM, Salleh B & Zakaria L (2011) Molecular identification of *Fusarium* species in *gibberella fujikuroi* species complex from rice, sugarcane and maize from Peninsular Malaysia. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **12**: 6722–6732
- Hu Z, Parekh U, Maruta N, Trusov Y & Botella JR (2016) Down-regulation of *Fusarium* oxysporum endogenous genes by host-delivered RNA interference enhances disease resistance. *Front. Chem.* **3:** 1–10
- International Agency for Research on Cancer (2021) IARC monographs on the identification of carcinogenic hazards to humans. Available at: https://monographs.iarc.who.int/agents-classified-by-the-iarc/
- Ivashuta S, Zhang Y, Wiggins BE, Ramaseshadri P, Bolognesi R & Heck GR (2015) Environmental RNAi in herbivorous insects. *Rna* **21**: 840–850
- Jackson AL, Bartz SR, Schelter J, Kobayashi S V., Burchard J, Mao M, Li B, Cavet G & Linsley PS (2003) Expression profiling reveals off-target gene regulation by RNAi. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **21:** 635–637
- Jackson AL, Burchard J, Schelter J, Chau BN, Cleary M, Lim L & Linsley PS (2006) Widespread siRNA 'off-target' transcript silencing mediated by seed region sequence complementarity. *Rna* **12**: 1179–1187
- Jackson RJ & Standart N (2007) How do MicroRNAs regulate gene expression? *Sci. STKE* **2007**:
- Jiang L, Ding L, He B, Shen J, Xu Z, Yin M & Zhang X (2014) Systemic gene silencing in plants triggered by fluorescent nanoparticle-delivered double-stranded RNA. *Nanoscale* 6: 9965–9969
- Jimenez-Garcia SN, Garcia-Mier L, Garcia-Trejo JF, Ramirez-Gomez XS, Guevara-Gonzalez RG & Feregrino-Perez AA (2018) *Fusarium* mycotoxins and metabolites that modulate their production. In *Fusarium Plant Diseases, Pathogen Diversity, Genetic Diversity, Resistance and Molecular Markers* p 40.

- Jöchl C, Loh E, Ploner A, Haas H & Hüttenhofer A (2009) Development-dependent scavenging of nucleic acids in the filamentous fungus *Aspergillus fumigatus*. *RNA Biol.* **6:** 179–186
- Kamthan A, Chaudhuri A, Kamthan M & Datta A (2015) Small RNAs in plants: Recent development and application for crop improvement. *Front. Plant Sci.* **6**: 1–17
- Kikot GE, Moschini R, Consolo VF, Rojo R, Salerno G, Hours RA, Gasoni L, Arambarri AM & Alconada TM (2011) Occurrence of different species of *Fusarium* from wheat in relation to disease levels predicted by a weather-based model in Argentina Pampas region. *Mycopathologia* **171**: 139–149
- King R, Urban M & Hammond-Kosack KE (2017) Annotation of *Fusarium graminearum* (PH-1) version 5.0. *Genome Announc.* **5**: 5–6
- Knip M, Constantin ME & Thordal-Christensen H (2014) Trans-kingdom cross-talk: Small RNAs on the move. *PLoS Genet.* **10**: 67–75
- Koch A, Biedenkopf D, Furch A, Weber L, Rossbach O, Abdellatef E, Linicus L, Johannsmeier J, Jelonek L, Goesmann A, Cardoza V, McMillan J, Mentzel T & Kogel KH (2016) An RNAi-Based control of *Fusarium graminearum* infections through spraying of long dsRNAs involves a plant passage and is controlled by the fungal silencing machinery. *PLoS Pathog.* 12: 1–22
- Kogel K-H (2021) RNA uptake in fungi Plant protection by non-coding RNAs. In *Iplanta Webinar*
- Krcmery V, Jesenska Z, Spanik S, Gyarfas J, Nogova J, Botek R, Mardiak J, Sufliarsky J, Sisolakova J, Vanickova M, Kunova A, Studena M & Trupl J (1997) Fungaemia due to *Fusarium* spp. in cancer patients. *J. Hosp. Infect.* **36**: 223–228
- Larson TM, Kendra DF, Busman M & Brown DW (2011) *Fusarium verticillioides* chitin synthases CHS5 and CHS7 are required for normal growth and pathogenicity. *Curr. Genet.* **57:** 177–189
- Lee HJ & Ryu D (2017) Worldwide occurrence of mycotoxins in cereals and cereal-derived food products: public health perspectives of their co-occurrence. J. Agric. Food Chem. 65: 7034–7051
- Li Z, Xu R & Li N (2018) MicroRNAs from plants to animals, do they define a new messenger for communication? *Nutr. Metab. (Lond).* **15:** 68
- Liu W, Duttke SH, Hetzel J, Groth M, Feng S, Gallego-Bartolome J, Zhong Z, Kuo HY, Wang Z, Zhai J, Chory J & Jacobsen SE (2018) RNA-directed DNA methylation involves cotranscriptional small-RNA-guided slicing of polymerase v transcripts in *Arabidopsis. Nat. Plants* **4**: 181–188
- Logrieco A, Mule G, Bottalico A & Perrone G (2002) Toxigenic *Fusarium* species and mycotoxins associated with maize ear rot in Europe. *Eur. J. Plant Pathol.* **108:** 597–609
- Luteijn MJ & Ketting RF (2013) PIWI-interacting RNAs: From generation to transgenerational epigenetics. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **14:** 523–534
- Machado AK, Brown NA, Urban M, Kanyuka K & Hammond-Kosack KE (2018) RNAi as an emerging approach to control Fusarium head blight disease and mycotoxin contamination in cereals. *Pest Manag. Sci.* **74:** 790–799
- MacRae IJ & Doudna JA (2007) Ribonuclease revisited: structural insights into ribonuclease III family enzymes. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **17:** 138–145

- Majumdar R, Rajasekaran K & Cary JW (2017) RNA interference (RNAi) as a potential tool for control of mycotoxin contamination in crop plants: Concepts and considerations. *Front. Plant Sci.* **8:** 200
- Marasas WFO (1995) Fumonisins: their implications for human and animal health. *Nat. Toxins* **3**: 193–198
- Masanga JO, Matheka JM, Omer RA, Ommeh SC, Monda EO & Alakonya AE (2015) Downregulation of transcription factor aflR in *Aspergillus flavus* confers reduction to aflatoxin accumulation in transgenic maize with alteration of host plant architecture. *Plant Cell Rep.* **34:** 1379–1387
- McLoughlin AG, Wytinck N, Walker PL, Girard IJ, Rashid KY, De Kievit T, Fernando WGD, Whyard S & Belmonte MF (2018) Identification and application of exogenous dsRNA confers plant protection against Sclerotinia sclerotiorum and *Botrytis cinerea*. *Sci. Rep.* **8:** 1–14
- McMullen M, Bergstrom G, De Wolf E, Dill-Macky R, Hershman D, Shaner G & Van Sanford D (2012) A unified effort to fight an enemy of wheat and barley: Fusarium head blight. *Plant Dis.* **96:** 1712–1728
- Meister G & Tuschl T (2004) Mechanisms of gene silencing by double-stranded RNA. *Nature* **431:** 343–349
- Mi S, Cai T, Hu Y, Chen Y, Hodges E, Ni F, Li S, Zhou H, Long C, Chen S & Hannon GJ (2008) Sorting of small RNAs into *Arabidopsis* argonaute complexes is directed by the 5' terminal nucleotide. *Cell* **133**: 116–127
- Mitter N, Worrall EA, Robinson KE, Li P, Jain RG, Taochy C, Fletcher SJ, Carroll BJ, Lu GQ & Xu ZP (2017) Clay nanosheets for topical delivery of RNAi for sustained protection against plant viruses. *Nat. Plants* **3**: 78–82
- Muhammad T, Zhang F, Zhang Y & Liang Y (2019) RNA Interference: A natural immune system of plants to counteract biotic stressors. *Cells* **8**: 38
- Muimba-Kankolongo A (2018) Cereal production. In *Food Crop Production by Smallholder Farmers in Southern Africa* pp 73–121.
- Munkvold GP, Arias S, Taschl I & Gruber-Dorninger C (2018) Mycotoxins in corn: Occurrence, impacts, and management. In *Corn: Chemistry and Technology, 3rd Edition* pp 235–287. Elsevier Inc.
- Munkvold GP, McGee DC & Carlton WM (1997) Importance of different pathways for maize kernel infection by *Fusarium moniliforme*. *Phytopathology* **87**: 209–217
- Murillo-Williams A & Munkvold GP (2008) Systemic infection by *Fusarium verticillioides* in maize plants grown under three temperature regimes. *Plant Dis.* **92:** 1695–1700
- Muthomi JW, Riungu GM, Ndung'u JK, Narla RD, Gathumbi JK & Wagacha JM (2008) Head blight of wheat in Kenya and contamination of grain with mycotoxin producing *Fusarium* species. *J. Plant Sci.* **3**: 52–60
- Nakayashiki H, Hanada S, Quoc NB, Kadotani N, Tosa Y & Mayama S (2005) RNA silencing as a tool for exploring gene function in ascomycete fungi. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **42:** 275– 283
- Nakayashiki H, Kadotani N & Mayama S (2006) Evolution and diversification of RNA silencing proteins in fungi. *J. Mol. Evol.* **63**: 127–135

- Napoli C, Lemieux C & Jorgensen R (1990) Introduction of a chimeric chalcone synthase gene into petunia results in reversible co-suppression of homologous genes in trans. *Plant Cell* **2:** 279–289
- Nelson PE, Desjardins AE & Plattner RD (1993) Fumonisins, mycotoxins produced by Fusarium species: biology, chemistry, and significance. **31:** 52
- Nelson PE, Plattner RD, Shackelford DD & Desjardins AE (1992) Fumonisin B1 production by *Fusarium* species other than *F. moniliforme* in section *Liseola* and by some related species. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **58**: 984–989
- Nicolás FE & Garre V (2017) RNA interference in fungi: retention and loss. *The Fungal Kingdom* **4:** 657–671
- Nowara D, Schweizer P, Gay A, Lacomme C, Shaw J, Ridout C, Douchkov D, Hensel G & Kumlehn J (2010) HIGS: Host-induced gene silencing in the obligate biotrophic fungal pathogen *Blumeria graminis*. *Plant Cell* **22**: 3130–3141
- Numata K, Ohtani M, Yoshizumi T, Demura T & Kodama Y (2014) Local gene silencing in plants via synthetic dsRNA and carrier peptide. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **12:** 1027–1034
- O'Brien J, Hayder H, Zayed Y & Peng C (2018) Overview of microRNA biogenesis, mechanisms of actions, and circulation. *Front. Endocrinol. (Lausanne).* **9:** 1–12
- O'Donnell K, Rooney AP, Proctor RH, Brown DW, McCormick SP, Ward TJ, Frandsen RJN, Lysøe E, Rehner SA, Aoki T, Robert VARG, Crous PW, Groenewald JZ, Kang S & Geiser DM (2013) Phylogenetic analyses of RPB1 and RPB2 support a middle Cretaceous origin for a clade comprising all agriculturally and medically important fusaria. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **52:** 20–31
- Oren L, Ezrati S, Cohen D & Sharon A (2003) Early events in the *Fusarium verticillioides*maize interaction characterized by using a green fluorescent protein-expressing transgenic isolate. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **69:** 1695–1701
- Osborne LE & Stein JM (2007) Epidemiology of Fusarium head blight on small-grain cereals. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **119:** 103–108
- Palli SR (2014) RNA interference in Colorado potato beetle: steps toward development of dsRNA as a commercial insecticide. *Curr Opin Insect Sci.* **6:** 1–8
- Parker KM, Barragán Borrero V, Van Leeuwen DM, Lever MA, Mateescu B & Sander M (2019) Environmental fate of RNA interference pesticides: adsorption and degradation of double-stranded RNA molecules in agricultural soils. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **53**: 3027–3036
- Pavlovic S, Ristic D, Vucurovic I, Stevanovic M, Stojanovic S, Kuzmanovic S & Starovic M (2016) Morphology, pathogenicity and molecular identification of *Fusarium* spp. associated with anise seeds in Serbia. *Not. Bot. Horti Agrobot. Cluj-Napoca* **44:** 411–417
- Perincherry L, Lalak-kanczugowska J & Stepien L (2019) *Fusarium*-produced mycotoxins in plant-pathogen interactions. *Toxins (Basel).* **11:** 664
- Persengiev SP, Zhu X & Green MR (2004) Nonspecific, concentration-dependent stimulation and repression of mammalian gene expression by small interfering RNAs (siRNAs). *Rna* **10:** 12–18
- Pestka JJ (2010) Deoxynivalenol: Mechanisms of action, human exposure, and toxicological relevance. *Arch. Toxicol.* **84:** 663–679
- Pratt AJ & MacRae IJ (2009) The RNA-induced silencing complex: A versatile gene-silencing machine. *J. Biol. Chem.* **284**: 17897–17901
- Proctor RH, Busman M, Seo JA, Lee YW & Plattner RD (2008) A fumonisin biosynthetic gene cluster in *Fusarium oxysporum* strain O-1890 and the genetic basis for B versus C fumonisin production. *Fungal Genet. Biol.* **45**: 1016–1026
- Proctor RH, Plattner RD, Desjardins AE, Busman M & Butchko RAE (2006) Fumonisin production in the maize pathogen *Fusarium verticillioides*: Genetic basis of naturally occurring chemical variation. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **54:** 2424–2430
- Pyott DE & Molnar A (2015) Going mobile: Non-cell-autonomous small RNAs shape the genetic landscape of plants. *Plant Biotechnol. J.* **13:** 306–318
- Qian Y, Cheng Y, Cheng X, Jiang H, Zhu S & Cheng B (2011) Identification and characterization of Dicer-like, Argonaute and RNA-dependent RNA polymerase gene families in maize. *Plant Cell Rep.* **30**: 1347–1363
- Qiao L, Lan C, Capriotti L, Ah-Fong A, Sanchez JN, Hamby R, Zhao H, Glass NL, Judelson HS, Mezzetti B, Niu D & Jin H (2021) Spray-induced gene silencing for disease control is dependent on the efficiency of pathogen RNA uptake. *Plant Biotechnol. J.*
- Reid LM, Nicol RW, Quellet T, Savard M, Miller JD, Young JC, Stewart DW & Schaafsma AW (1999) Interaction of *Fusarium graminearum* and *F. moniliforme* in maize ears: Disease progress, fungal biomass, and mycotoxin accumulation. *Phytopathology* **89**: 1028–1037
- Rheeder JP, Marasas WFO & Vismer HF (2002) Production of fumonisin analogs by *Fusarium* species. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **68:** 2101–2105
- Riddell RW (1950) Permanent stained mycological preparations obtained by slide culture. *Mycologia* **42:** 265–270
- Riquelme M, Aguirre J, Bartnicki-García S, Braus GH, Feldbrügge M, Fleig U, Hansberg W, Herrera-Estrella A, Kämper J, Kück U, Mouriño-Pérez RR, Takeshita N & Fischer R (2018) Fungal morphogenesis, from the polarized growth of hyphae to complex reproduction and infection structures. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.* **82:** 1–47
- Riquelme M & Bartnicki-García S (2008) Advances in understanding hyphal morphogenesis: Ontogeny, phylogeny and cellular localization of chitin synthases. *Fungal Biol. Rev.* 22: 56–70
- RNAgri (2020) RNAgri. Available at: http://www.rnagri.com/
- Roberts AF, Devos Y, Lemgo GNY & Zhou X (2015) Biosafety research for non-target organism risk assessment of RNAi-based GE plants. *Front. Plant Sci.* **6:** 1–9
- Romano N & Macino G (1992) Quelling: transient inactivation of gene expression in Neurospora crassa by transformation with homologous sequences. *Mol. Microbiol.* **6**: 3343–3353
- Ross PF, Nelson PE, Richard JL, Osweiler GD, Rice LG, Plattner RD & Wilson TM (1990) Production of fumonisins by *Fusarium moniliforme* and *Fusarium proliferatum* isolates associated with equine leukoencephalomalacia and a pulmonary edema syndrome in swine. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* **56**: 3225–3226
- Rutter BD & Innes RW (2017) Extracellular vesicles isolated from the leaf apoplast carry stress-response proteins. *Plant Physiol.* **173:** 728–741
- Sagaram US, Kolomiets M & Shim WB (2006) Regulation of fumonisin biosynthesis in *Fusarium verticillioides* - Maize system. *Plant Pathol. J.* **22:** 203–210

- Schneider CA, Rasband WS & Eliceiri KW (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat. Methods* **9:** 671–675
- Seong KY, Zhao X, Xu JR, Güldener U & Kistler HC (2008) Conidial germination in the filamentous fungus *Fusarium graminearum*. *Fungal Genet*. *Biol*. **45**: 389–399
- Sherman JH, Munyikwa T, Chan SY, Petrick JS, Witwer KW & Choudhuri S (2015) RNAi technologies in agricultural biotechnology: The toxicology forum 40th annual summer meeting. *Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.* **73**: 671–680
- Shih JD & Hunter CP (2011) SID-1 is a dsRNA-selective dsRNA-gated channel. **17:** 1057– 1065
- Singh N, Mukherjee SK & Rajam MV (2020) Silencing of the ornithine decarboxylase gene of *Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici* by host-induced RNAi confers resistance to Fusarium wilt in tomato. *Plant Mol. Biol. Report.* **38**: 419–429
- Smith D (2013) Fusarium head blight (Scab) of wheat. Available at: https://fyi.extension.wisc.edu/fieldcroppathology/fusarium-head-blight-scab-of-wheat/
- Spolti P, Del Ponte EM, Dong Y, Cummings JA & Bergstrom GC (2014) Triazole sensitivity in a contemporary population of *Fusarium graminearum* from New York wheat and competitiveness of a tebuconazole-resistant isolate. *Plant Dis.* **98:** 607–613
- Summerell BA (2019) Resolving *Fusarium*: current status of the genus. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **57:** 323–339
- Tang G, Reinhart BJ, Bartel DP & Zamore PD (2003) A biochemical framework for RNA silencing in plants. *Genes Dev.* **17:** 49–63
- Taning CNT, Gui S, De Schutter K, Jahani M, Castellanos NL, Christiaens O & Smagghe G (2020) A sequence complementarity-based approach for evaluating off-target transcript knockdown in *Bombus terrestris*, following ingestion of pest-specific dsRNA. *J. Pest Sci.* (2004).
- Tetorya M & Rajam M V. (2018) RNA silencing of PEX6 gene causes decrease in pigmentation, sporulation and pathogenicity of *Fusarium oxysporum*. *Plant Pathol.* **67**–75
- Tinoco MLP, Dias BBA, Dall'Astta RC, Pamphile JA & Aragão FJL (2010a) In vivo transspecific gene silencing in fungal cells by in planta expression of a double-stranded RNA. *BMC Biol.* **8:** 27
- Tinoco MLP, Dias BBA, Dall'Astta RC, Pamphile JA & Aragão FJL (2010b) In vivo transspecific gene silencing in fungal cells by in planta expression of a double-stranded RNA. *BMC Biol.* 8:
- Trail F & Common R (2000) Perithecial development by *Gibberella zeae*: a light microscopy study . *Mycologia* **92:** 130–138
- Tran MT, Ameye M, Thi-Kim Phan L, Devlieghere F, De Saeger S, Eeckhout M & Audenaert K (2021a) Impact of ethnic pre-harvest practices on the occurrence of *Fusarium verticillioides* and fumonisin B1 in maize fields from Vietnam. *Food Control* **120**: 107567
- Tran TM, Ameye M, Phan LTK, Devlieghere F, De Saeger S, Eeckhout M & Audenaert K (2021b) Post-harvest contamination of maize by *Fusarium verticillioides* and fumonisins linked to traditional harvest and post-harvest practices: A case study of small-holder farms in Vietnam. *Int. J. Food Microbiol.* **339**: 109022

- Uhlig S, Busman M, Shane DS, Rønning H, Rise F & Proctor R (2012) Identification of early fumonisin biosynthetic intermediates by inactivation of the FUM6 gene in *Fusarium verticillioides*. J. Agric. Food Chem. **60**: 10293–10301
- Wakuliński W (1989) Phytotoxicity of *Fusarium* metabolites in relation to pathogenicity. *Fusarium*: 257–268
- Wang K, Li H, Yuan Y, Etheridge A, Zhou Y, Huang D, Wilmes P & Galas D (2012) The complex exogenous RNA spectra in human plasma: an interface with human gut biota? *PLoS One* **7**:
- Wang M, Weiberg A, Lin FM, Thomma BPHJ, Huang H Da & Jin H (2016) Bidirectional cross-kingdom RNAi and fungal uptake of external RNAs confer plant protection. *Nat. Plants* **2**: 16151
- Weiberg A, Wang M, Lin FM, Zhao H, Zhang Z, Kaloshian I, Huang H Da & Jin H (2013) Fungal small RNAs suppress plant immunity by hijacking host RNA interference pathways. Science (80-.). 342: 118–123
- Weidenbörner M (2017) Mycotoxins in plants and plant products : cereals and cereal products
- Werner BT, Gaffar FY, Schuemann J, Biedenkopf D & Koch AM (2020) RNA-spray-mediated silencing of *Fusarium graminearum* AGO and DCL genes improve barley disease resistance. *Front. Plant Sci.* **11**: 1–11
- Witwer KW & Hirschi KD (2014) Transfer and functional consequences of dietary microRNAs in vertebrates: Concepts in search of corroboration. *BioEssays* **36**: 394–406
- Witwer KW, Mcalexander MA, Queen SE & Adams RJ (2013) Real-time quantitative PCR and droplet digital PCR for plant miRNAs in mammalian blood provide little evidence for general uptake of dietary miRNAs: Limited evidence for general uptake of dietary plant xenomiRs. *RNA Biol.* **10**: 1080–1086
- Wytinck N, Sullivan DS, Biggar KT, Crisostomo L, Pelka P, Belmonte MF & Whyard S (2020) Clathrin mediated endocytosis is involved in the uptake of exogenous double-stranded RNA in the white mold phytopathogen *Sclerotinia sclerotiorum*. *Sci. Rep.* **10**: 1–12
- Xie Z, Johansen LK, Gustafson AM, Kasschau KD, Lellis AD, Zilberman D, Jacobsen SE & Carrington JC (2004) Genetic and functional diversification of small RNA pathways in plants. *PLoS Biol.* **2:** 642–652
- Xu X & Nicholson P (2009) Community ecology of fungal pathogens causing wheat head blight. *Annu. Rev. Phytopathol.* **47:** 83–103
- Young NA, Kwon-Chung KJ, Kubota TT, Jennings AE & Fisher RI (1978) Disseminated infection by *Fusarium moniliforme* during treatment for malignant lymphoma. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **7:** 589–594
- Zhang G, Gurtu V & Kain SR (1996) An enhanced green fluorescent protein allows sensitive detection of gene transfer in mammalian cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 227: 707–711
- Zhang L, Hou D, Chen X, Li D, Zhu L, Zhang Y, Li J, Bian Z, Liang X, Cai X, Yin Y, Wang C, Zhang T, Zhu D, Zhang D, Xu J, Chen Q, Ba Y, Liu J, Wang Q, et al (2012) Exogenous plant MIR168a specifically targets mammalian LDLRAP1: Evidence of cross-kingdom regulation by microRNA. *Cell Res.* **22**: 107–126

- Zhang T, Jin Y, Zhao JH, Gao F, Zhou BJ, Fang YY & Guo HS (2016) Host-induced gene silencing of the target gene in fungal cells confers effective resistance to the cotton wilt disease pathogen *Verticillium dahliae*. *Mol. Plant* **9**: 939–942
- Zotti M, dos Santos EA, Cagliari D, Christiaens O, Taning CNT & Smagghe G (2018) RNA interference technology in crop protection against arthropod pests, pathogens and nematodes. *Pest Manag. Sci.* **74:** 1239–1250

# Supplement I

Gene	Primer	sequence	Product size
Chitin synthase 3b Vert.	F	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGATGGGCAA GAAGGGTATTGAC	
	R	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGATGGTATC CCGAGAGAACCTG	- 409 bp

Gene	Primer	sequence	Product size
Chitin synthase 3b Gram.	F	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGAGAGTCGGAA CACCACAGGTTCT	- 508 bp
	R	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGATTGTTCC CCAAGACACATCA	

Gene	Primer	sequence	Product size
Gram. eGFP	F	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGACCTGAAG	- 382 bp
	R	TAATACGACTCACTATAGGGAGAGAGTTGTGG	
		CGGATCTTGAAGT	



### Final PCR product concentration (used as template for dsRNA synthesis)



Gene	ng/uL	
Vert. chs3b	377.70	
eGFP	347.72	
Gram. chs3b	346.75	

#### dsRNA synthesis process



2367.93

2

# Supplement II



# **Control pictures**

F. verticillioides



1 dai





3 dai







2 dai

F. graminearum



3 dai



cGFP



PGA 10X diluted



H2O medium





mineral medium 10X diluted



H2O medium





#### Normal mineral medium



mineral medium 10X diluted



H2O medium



# Supplement III

## **Infection trial**



## Pictures of infection trial – Fv/Fm values













## Chs3b and eGFP set-up I



## Chs3b and eGFP set-up II

